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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Kwong Man
Kee Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.

This report will remain on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited at www.hkexnews.hk on the “Latest Listed Company
Information” page for at least 7 days from the date of its posting and the
Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2022.

Review

As a well-established contractor in the car park flooring industry in
Hong Kong and Macau, we provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment ranges
from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenues from Hong Kong
and Macau markets were approximately HK$105.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$108.4 million) and approximately HK$5.5 million
(2021: approximately HK$10.5 million), respectively. While the revenue
from the Hong Kong market suffered slight decline, the decreasing
revenue from Macau market was due to strict precautionary and
control measures taken by the Macau Government since the outbreak
of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") in early 2020 which
have caused severe drop in number of tourists and thereby adversely
affecting its major revenue from gambling tourism. In light of the general
economic setback in Macau, most of main contractors and property
developers have been cautious and had either postponed or suspended
construction or renovation projects.

In consideration of the competition in the car park flooring market and
the general economic setback, especially in Macau, caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors expect our business environment
would continue to be challenging in the coming years. The Group
will continue to closely monitor the situation and development of the
COVID-19 pandemic and take appropriate measures when necessary.

Looking Forward

In order to continue to generate promising returns to the shareholders
of the Company and to further diversify business risks, the Directors are
taking an active approach to seek alternative business opportunities
in order to broaden its source of income. Meanwhile, the Group shall
continue to dedicate its effort to expanding its existing business in the
car park flooring and waterproofing sectors to strengthen its income
stream.
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Appreciation

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude and sincere
appreciation to all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business
partners and professional parties for their support during these
challenging times. | also take this opportunity to thank our management
and employees for their contribution and commitment throughout the
year.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Chi Man (B&X), aged 67, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Kwong is mainly responsible for the leadership and management
of the Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Kwong was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2016. He is a director of
all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 40 years of experience in the
construction industry. Mr. Kwong entered into the construction industry
as a sole proprietor with the business registration of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering in 1982. Mr. Kwong started the car park flooring
business in 2003 and in 2005 undertook projects from major property
developers, architects, main contractors and government bodies. In
2008, Mr. Kwong became a shareholder and director of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering Limited (“KMK”) and subsequently became the sole
shareholder of KMK in 2013. Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 15 years
of experience in the car park flooring industry. Mr. Kwong is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (&%), aged 46, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Group and is principally responsible for the
business development, overall management and business operations
of the Group. Mr. Yip first joined the Group in November 2003 on a part
time basis to promote the Group’s business. In August 2015, Mr. Yip
took up the position of manager of KMK on a full time basis. Mr. Yip
has accumulated over 15 years of experience in the car park flooring
industry. Mr. Yip was appointed as an executive Director on 3 August
2018. He is a director of all subsidiaries of the Group except Victor Ease
Limited.

Mr. Yip graduated from The University of British Columbia in May
1997 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering with distinction
and subsequently obtained a master's degree in engineering from the
same university in May 1998. Mr. Yip is an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Yip Wai Man (£/&30), aged 48, is an executive Director principally
responsible for supervision and management of site works, quality
control and work safety. Mr. Yip WM worked in his family business in
trading before joining the Group in November 2005 as a technician. He
left the Group in January 2006 to rejoin his family business but returned
as the technician in June 2006. In 2010, Mr. Yip WM became a site
foreman of the Group and has accumulated 15 years of experience
working in the Group. Mr. Yip WM was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 June 2016.
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In October 2012, Mr. Yip WM completed and passed the Technically
Competent Person T1 Training Course at the Hong Kong Institute
of Vocational Education. Mr. Yip WM has also completed the Safety
Supervisor Training Course at Hong Kong Human Resources Limited in
March 2013. Mr. Yip WM is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (R#2), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Ms. Yu has
accumulated experience in the civil and geotechnical engineering field
when she was employed from 1998 to 2005 by Greg Wong & Associates
Limited, a civil and structural engineering company in Hong Kong. In
2012, Ms. Yu commenced her legal career and she was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in April 2014.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the
University of British Columbia in May 1997 and a master’s degree
in engineering (civil) from Cornell University (USA) in May 1998.
In November 2007, Ms. Yu further completed a master’'s degree in
engineering (industrial engineering and logistics management) from the
University of Hong Kong. In December 2010, Ms. Yu obtained her Juris
Doctor degree and subsequently the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
(PCLL) in July 2011, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Pui Cheung (% &), aged 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Law
has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Mr. Law began his career with Ernst and Whinney, the
predecessor firm of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Law joined Li, Tang, Chen & Co., a practising certified
public accountant firm in Hong Kong in 1989 and retired as a partner in
June 2016. Mr. Law had been a practising director of Yong Zheng CPA
Limited and is now the founder and chief executive officer of Marvin
Law & Co., a certified public accountant firm. He is also a member of
the Disciplinary Panel of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Market Misconduct Tribunal of
Securities and Futures Commission.
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Mr. Law is a fellow or member of the following professional organisations:

B E & F

BEERTIEXBBMNEREGBHEE

Organisation Capacity Since (Year)
Hig B iR (F )
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants Fellow 1990
RERHFLARGHRE BARAgR —NEF
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Fellow 1985
ENE-E VN BAER —N\RF
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants Member 1995
LA TN g8 —ANEE
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Fellow 2015
ERBFIRERS BRAGE “T-RF
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors Fellow 2011
ERESEY BXg8 —E——F
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Fellow 2015
HRBREABRSASAMAE Exg8 “T-RF

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (JEEHT), aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Wat
has accumulated more than 10 years of experience in the civil and
geotechnical engineering field when he was employed from August
1998 to November 2009 by Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited, a
global management, engineering and development consultancy firm.
In November 2009, Mr. Wat became a director of Kin Wah Hong Paper
Limited, a company with the principal business of paper agency and
distributorship in Hong Kong, where he is responsible for the overall
administration, procurement, financial control and sales and marketing.

Mr. Wat has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(Civil Discipline) since March 2003.

Mr. Wat graduated from the University of British Columbia in May 1997
with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and subsequently obtained
a master’s degree of Engineering (Civil) from Cornell University (USA) in
May 1998.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (£{2##), aged 58, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary in December 2017. He is responsible
for overall financial management and company secretarial matters of
the Group. He also supports the management on strategic and financial
planning and funding matters in relation to the business development of
the Group.

Mr. Choi has over 30 years of experience in financial management,
financial control, auditing, treasury, taxation as well as various projects
regarding mergers and acquisitions and initial public offerings. During
the course of his professional career, he had the opportunity to hold
various senior accounting and finance positions in company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, international corporation and
other well-established companies in various industries.

Mr. Choi obtained his diploma in accounting at Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1990 and
obtained his master's degree in management majored in accounting
at Dongbei University of Finance and Economics, People’s Republic of
China in 2010. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since 1999 and 2003, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the car park flooring industry in
Hong Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment ranges
from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenues from Hong Kong
and Macau markets were approximately HK$105.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$108.4 million) and approximately HK$5.5 million
(2021: approximately HK$10.5 million), respectively. The decreasing
revenue from Macau market was mainly due to the economic setback
in Macau since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020. A series of
precautionary and control measures taken by the Macau Government
caused a severe drop in the number of tourists as well as its major
source of economic revenues from the gambling tourism. Facing the
poor economic conditions in Macau, most of the main contractors
and property developers as well as hotels and casinos postponed or
suspended their construction or renovation projects.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately HK$110.4 million, or the decrease by 7.1%
as compared with approximately HK$118.9 million for the year ended
31 March 2021. As a result of the decrease of revenue and gross
profit margin, the Group’s net profit substantially decreased from
approximately HK$15.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$7.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

In February 2022, the Group acquired a 40% equity interest in Carful
Group Limited (the “CGL”", formerly known as Hong Kong Carful Group
Limited), which is one of the Seed Fund Teams under the HK Tech 300
Programme of City University of Hong Kong, at a cash consideration of
HK$5 million. CGL is principally engaged in the provision of car-sharing
platforms in Hong Kong. The Group invested in CGL with the view to
maintain a sustainable growth through business diversification and to
take up social responsibility by helping young talents in building up
their own businesses. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
shared the loss of CGL of approximately HK$188,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue

The revenue, which is principally generated from the provision of car
park flooring services for construction projects, decreased by 7.1%
from approximately HK$118.9 million for year ended 31 March 2021
to approximately HK$110.4 million for year ended 31 March 2022. The
drop in revenue was mainly due to the significant decrease in revenue
derived from the Macau market for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’ s gross profit decreased by 14.5% from approximately
HK$41.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$35.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The gross profit
margin of the Group decreased from 35.1% for the year ended 31
March 2021 to 32.4% for the same period ended 31 March 2022. The
decrease in gross profit was mainly caused by (i) the decrease in
revenue for year ended 31 March 2022; and (ii) fewer projects with
higher profit margin as compared with the year ended 31 March 2021.

Other income and other gains, net

Other income and other gains, net of the Group significantly decreased
by approximately HK$1.1 million from approximately HK$1.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$418,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022. For the year ended 31 March 2021,
it primarily consisted of the subsidies provided by the Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the Employment
Support Scheme. There were no such subsidies received for the year
ended 31 March 2022,

Impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets

The impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets increased by approximately HK$326,000 from approximately
HK$2.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$2.4 million for the same period ended 31 March 2022.

Impairment loss is calculated under expected credit loss model with
reference to the expected credit loss rates, which were determined
based on the Group’s internal and historical credit loss data, the days
past due and the probability of default of customers, and also taking
into account the forward-looking information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$1.4 million from approximately HK$22.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$24.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022. The increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in staff salary and the increase in number of senior
and experienced staff. General and administrative expenses consist
primarily of staff cost, depreciation, professional fees and other general
administrative expenses.

Share of loss of an associate

Share of loss of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% equity interest
in an associate, CGL, for the provision of car-sharing platforms in Hong
Kong. The Group’s share of loss of the associate for the year ended 31
March 2022 was approximately HK$188,000 (2021: Nil).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group was approximately HK$2.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 as compared with income tax expense
of approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The decrease of income tax expense was mainly attributable to the
decrease in profit before income tax from approximately HK$18.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$9.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the profit of the Group decreased from
approximately HK$15.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$7.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

OUTLOOK

In light of increasing operating costs, keen competition in the carpark
flooring market and the general economic setback, especially in Macau,
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic which may all weaken our future
financial performance, the Directors expect the business environment to
remain challenging in the coming years.

In order to continue to generate promising returns to the shareholders
of the Company and to further diversify business risks, the Directors are
taking an active approach to seek alternative business opportunities to
broaden its source of income. Meanwhile, the Group will also continue
to focus on expanding its existing business in the car park flooring and
waterproofing sectors to strengthen its income stream.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained a healthy financial position during the year ended
31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$23.9 million (2021: approximately
HK$34.6 million). The Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.2 times
as at 31 March 2022 compared to approximately 3.2 times at 31 March

2021.

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2022 were approximately
HK$15.9 million (2021: approximately HK$10.0 million). The borrowings
were secured by the Group’s certain assets with carrying amount
of approximately HK$36.5 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$32.9 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$149.8 million (2021: approximately HK$129.9 million) which were
financed by total liabilities and total equity of approximately HK$48.0
million (2021: approximately HK$29.5 million) and approximately
HK$101.8 million (2021: approximately HK$100.4 million).

The Board considers that the Group has sufficient financial resources to
meet its funding requirements at all times.

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was approximately
13.5% (2021: approximately 9.0%).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by the total capital of approximately HK$117.8
million as at 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$110.4 million).
The total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus total
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
its shares listed on GEM on 13 October 2016. The share capital of the
Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$6,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
600,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no significant investment
held by the Group nor any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary,
associate and joint venture for the year ended 31 March 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Board does not have any plan for
material investments or additions of capital assets.

RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Macau and majority of its
business transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Macau Pataca, and hence, the Group does not have any material
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the year ended 31
March 2022. The Group has not entered into any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the reporting year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE SN W R 2 M

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 45 employees in total (2021: 37
employees). The employee costs of the Group (including directors’
emoluments and management, administrative and operational staff
costs) for the year ended 31 March 2022 were approximately HK$19.6
million (2021: approximately HK$16.0 million).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of basic remuneration, discretionary bonus may
be granted to senior management and staff members by reference to
the Group's performance as well as individual's performance. Other
staff benefits include medical benefits, mandatory provident fund and
sponsorship of training courses. Share options may also be granted to
eligible employees as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities. As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s committed
lease payments were recognised as lease liabilities of approximately
HK$845,000 (2021: approximately HK$570,000).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles
of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are keys to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders, and essential for encouraging accountability and
transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create
long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which includes
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance

with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in
respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has
fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code
of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The Board meets regularly for considering,
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to, among others, the
financial and operating performance, as well as, the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held when
significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and
resolved.

Responsibilities of the Directors
The Directors’ responsibilities include, inter alia:

o To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance;

J To review annual budgets for the Group;

o To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

o To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements
in quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and

press releases of quarterly, interim and annual results;

J To focus on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, finances and interest of the Shareholders;

o To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and
o To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director and officer liability insurance to
cover liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

EENESHRS

RAF B RMGEM E T4 855,48 25 671RIER
EERRNETEFRIORTTUN(BRITT
Al)) -$2REEHELARENER  SEEER
RABGREZ-_T-_—FZA=Z+—HILFEE
2EETRITAMANMLTRHER -

Exg
EZQRAAEREHADRMEE - L HRA
BEENEEARAREBNEE EFSEHE
T8E UZE FER/IHUAEBH(ATE
1) 5 R BRIA R AR A B 8 SRS MR
MEE BEEGTRBLEBAFRABEENARE
AIERT R R ERERITRINGH °

EENRE

EZRERE(ENERA)

. HEFRETEERTURHRE &
ERBRPBRARER

. EHNAKENFRESR

. EAARBRIMBHRENER  REER

Gl O

. BRLMAESE FHRFERS 2
o URZFE - PEIRFERE R

FHERSMBERE
. EPREFERNNFTRBHEEEK ¥
BRBRREROEE

. ERBEEBREBESHE R
. ERLEEARENCREARRRT

B NERETIERERNRTE

ARFERBEZERSMABEERE - ARLE
HERNZRTHMELNERELRARE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Composition
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10
of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and the nature of
the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of having
a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain
a sustainable business development of the Group in long run. In
recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board,
the nomination committee of the Company is entrusted to review the
Company’s human resources policy and recruitment process to ensure
the effectiveness of the policy.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three INEDs representing at least one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
As such, there is a strong element in the Board to provide independent
judgment.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by
the Shareholders at the Company at the first general meeting after their
appointment. At every annual general meeting of the Company at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election
thereat.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

An annual general meeting was held on 27 August 2021 during the year
ended 31 March 2022 with all Directors present throughout the meeting.
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

Five Board meetings were respectively held on 24 June 2021, 6 August
2021, 27 August 2021, 5 November 2021 and 8 February 2022 during
the year ended 31 March 2022. The individual attendance record of the
Board meetings is set out as follows:
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EZEERRHNRESHERR

EFEeREE T _FZAZ+—HIEFER
DRR-ZBE-—FXAZ+ME - ZT=Z—FN\
ARA ZB=—F/\A=++tRH ZT=—F
+ ARRR-ZE-—F#-_AN\BEFTELE

CEFEERNZEFHRCEHIMT

Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

B/ AERLE
Name of Directors EENEA E=ggEMEs
Mr. Kwong Chi Man B A e 5/5
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgt At 5/5
Mr. Yip Wai Man EEXEE 5/5
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo RBELT 5/5
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BmELE 5/5
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT S04 5/5
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS TEERBAE
The Board also responsible for the corporate governance functions EZEZ@NMEBENEEATEIATEHEXA2.1H
under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 (EERKE HE-_E-_—_F=A=+—HI
March 2022, the Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate #E @ EEeDEMRNHAENERNCEE

governance policies of the Group, the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the corporate
governance policies of the Group.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and ensures that it is managed in the best interests of
the Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of
other stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating
the business strategy,
performance of the Group, approving the financial statements as

reviewing and monitoring the business

well as directing and supervising the management of the Company.
Execution of operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated
to the management by the Board with clear directions. The Board is
regularly provided with management report to give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the performance, position,
development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.

recent
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TRAINING OF DIRECTORS AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars and forums organised by qualified professionals, to develop
and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each
Director. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company
whenever necessary.

The induvial training records of professional development received by
the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 are summarised as
follows:

EEMRIIREXER

RBHEEREIEER - N‘Wié‘%%ﬁf
R & ML E R ER WM AE LI -
EN2EBEER %%Ai%#ﬂ#ﬂ’ﬂ?\\uﬁﬁﬁﬂ@&
WEERBEXERTE NEERBERREN
ﬂ%%ﬂaﬁi&&m CREZSFELER -

FRETVBRRESXURNERN  YEHS
AT & B A A R BB W F M AR R

KATEEEEFOEVES - B TRAR

RARAELERAESREFENEIRER
TR

BEENBE_S_F=A=1+-HILFEEX
HEAEREREICEHANT -

Types of training (note)

Name of Directors EEfE B ERR (MEE)

Mr. Kwong Chi Man BE R AE A B

Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgLE A B

Mr. Yip Wai Man 2R GAE A B

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REELT A B

Mr. Law Pui Cheung Zi=Pided A B

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEBERT o & A B

Note: B 5T

Types of training BIERE

A: Attending training sessions, such as seminars, conferences, forums and A : IR - AR e wEBRIE
workshops %

B: Reading news alerts, newspapers, articles, journals, magazines and B : MERWEREE 7% i%am&ﬁ ﬂlﬁ’“

publications relating to update on business operations, industry,
cooperate governance matters and other regulatory requirements/
developments
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the legal compliance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with
their respective written terms of reference. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices,
procedures and arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow
in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings and their
respective terms of reference.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 24 September 2016 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control system, nominate and monitor
external auditors and to provide advice and comments to the Board on
matters related to corporate governance.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Law Pui
Cheung, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan. Mr. Law
Pui Cheung currently serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

it ¥ B B ® &
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Four Audit Committee meetings were respectively held on 24 June
2021, 6 August 2021, 5 November 2021 and 8 February 2022 during
the year ended 31 March 2022. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

ERLZEeNHE_T-_—_F=-A=1+—HBItF
EADRE-F-_—FAZ+HA - ZF=—
FENARNE ZE-_—F+—AHEAK-ZT -

FZANHEBTTRREH
EXREHFECEEIMT

ERZBQERN

Number of meetings of the
Audit Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHESERLE
Name of Directors E=ng EREESERNEE
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EmERE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REERT 4/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan BT R4 4/4
The Audit Committee has reviewed (i) the Group’s audited consolidated ZE#ZZE8ePEH()AEBHEEZ T -_—F=A
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022; and (i) the =+—BIFEENEBREAMBRE  R(i)AK
Group’s financing, internal control and risk management system. EEMNTE  APEERAREEHE -
Remuneration Committee yHzEg
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration ZARFRZHMHWZES ([FMEES|)N_Z—X
Committee’) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written iﬂﬂfﬁ'@ B /\Eﬁﬂ‘i&$’é%ﬁl1k/\GEM

terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the
board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, and determine, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan, Mr. Kwong Chi Man and Ms. Yu Wan Wah
Amparo. Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan currently serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held on 8 February 2022 for
the year ended 31 March 2022. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

it ¥ E B
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gMEEeNHE-_E-_—E-A=+—HIE
EE:%::E ANBRITT K25 HMl
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Number of meetings of the
Remuneration Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/RERLE
Name of Directors g FHEEESRNEE
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEEERT L4 1/1
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo SEEZL 11

In relation to the Group’s remuneration policy, the Directors and
senior management of the Company receive compensation in the
form of director fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee regularly reviews and determines, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration and compensation
packages of individual Directors and senior management by reference
to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the
Directors and the performance of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
by band are set out in Notes 22 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management of the Company.

EREENFHBERIE  EFRARASRE
BENESHE Fo BEURAIR/ABBE
A A MR SR Y2 AR AR LA B
HBH - RANKRRASRENKENEE - RE
EEMRRNEE  FHZES2E (HPEE)
MigEH 2 KF RFERRF N ORMAF - &
ERENBEERAKENERR  EHRTREE
BREERSRERENHFS RBMNFE

EERAAEEENTHEEFBENARER
B mEMFE22K27

REZE®

AREIZREZEES ((RBEEE)N=ZT
FARAZTHTBMKT /\Eﬁﬂ*ﬂéﬁﬁlf/\GEM
LR AIE5.36AK R EE AT AIBSFAEX
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The Nomination Committee should consider a number of factors in
assessing, evaluating and selecting candidates for the directorships
based on the Group’s nomination policy. These factors include
(i) character and integrity; (ii) qualifications and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and strategy; (iii) commitment to
devote sufficient time to discharge the duties as a member of the Board
and other directorship; (iv) diversity in all aspects in order to achieve
the diversity of the Board; (v) independence requirement with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules when evaluating the suitability of the candidates to be INEDs; and
(vi) such other factors which are appropriate to the Company’s business
and strategy.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Kwong
Chi Man, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan.
Mr. Kwong Chi Man currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held on 24 June 2021 during
the year ended 31 March 2022. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Tm%é,\aﬂfﬁf$ﬁlﬁ’]h%ﬂwﬁ EEEI

AERBEEERS “}\Hf%J‘é%:FI% 7F
%@Tﬁ(l)uﬂ%&a}iﬂé ADEUNCIES VY&

MHEMERRER  (i)EFERATHEBET
EXZgNBREMEERE  (VEHENSZT
£ NEREZENZTL: (VBLEHRTE -
AEREARTERETBLFRTESR -
FRGEM LT AR RI 5. 00{6 F &0 B L 1145 5] - &
(VERRARREHERENEMBHEE -

S R

REZEEH=_EMEENR  DHIRBENE
A REELLIREBRFTEL - BEXELERR
REZEEIR -

REEARRBE_B--F=A=+—BIF
BE-B-—FAA-THARIT—REH#-

REZEQERNBTXNEHFEDHHIINT -

Number of meetings of the
Nomination Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/RERLRE
Name of Directors EEnE REZESSENEE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEX 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELL 1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan AT A 11

Legal Compliance Committee

The legal compliance committee of the Company (the “Legal
Compliance Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with
its written terms of reference by reference to the code provisions of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
are to assist the Board in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws
and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and
system.
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The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members, being
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo, Mr. Law Pui Cheung and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu
Yan. Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo currently serves as the chairlady of the
Legal Compliance Committee.

One Legal Compliance Committee meeting was held on 8 February
2022 during the year ended 31 March 2022. The individual attendance
record of the meeting of the Legal Compliance Committee is set out as
follows:
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Number of meetings of the
Legal Compliance Committee
attended/eligible to attend
BHE/RERLE

Name of Directors EEnE FEERZEEEERNEA
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FHBELL 11
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BMELE Al
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT S0 11

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

In order to ensure the balanced composition and effectiveness of the
Board, the Company has accordingly adopted a Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of service. The
Board appointments will be based on the performance and competence
of the candidates, and the merit and contribution to be brought to the
Board by the selected candidates.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The existing Board members are coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives in the Corporate
Governance Report, and monitor the implementation of the diversity
policy to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee will consider any revisions that may be
required and propose recommendation to the Board for consideration
and approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of
the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. No material inadequacy of internal
controls has been revealed in terms of risk management in the Group’s
decision-making process.

A staff in the finance department was assigned to perform the internal
audit functions as part of her job and she reports the audit’s findings
to the Audit Committee. She mainly reviews and tests the control of the
Group’s major operational, financial, compliance and risk management
based on the Group’s policies. She communicates the findings, control
deficiencies and remedial actions with the management and Audit
Committee for improvement of the Group’s internal control system.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has reviewed
components of the internal control system and accounting policies
and practices including (i) stock take procedures; and (ii) sales and
receivable cycle by selecting certain projects for review, and the
internal audit staff reported that the Group consistently complied with
relevant policies and procedures. Suggestions were made to the Audit
Committee and the management has implemented certain follow-up
measures based on the internal audit findings.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that year. The Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report attached to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration paid or payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers (as the auditor of the Company) and its
affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services were
HK$1,100,000 and HK$71,000 respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established its dividend policy in compliance with code
provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, which aims to provide a transparency
of the mechanism used for determination of the dividend amount and
payment as well as to notify Shareholders and other persons concerned
of the dividend policy of the Group. It broadly specifies the external and
internal factors, including financial parameters, that shall be considered
while declaring dividend and the circumstances under which the
Shareholders of the Group may or may not expect dividend and how the
retained earnings shall be utilized.

The Board will review and monitor the implementation of the Group'’s
dividend policy from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (“Mr. Choi”), an employee of the Company, was
appointed by the Board as the secretary of the Company on 15
December 2017. The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report. Mr. Choi is principally responsible for supervision of the Group’s
financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and
company secretarial matters.

Mr. Choi had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGMs
shall also be convened on the requisition of two or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within a
further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting
in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings of the Company under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of

requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities.

The Company’s annual, interim and quarterly reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders. Announcements, reports, circulars,
publications and press releases of the Company are published on
the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk. The Company’s website
disseminates corporate information and other relevant financial and
non-financial information electronically on a timely basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy in
order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and also to allow Shareholders and the investors to strengthen
the communication with the Company. The Company is committed to
promoting and maintaining effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that the
Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company. The
Group will continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of
information disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, there has been no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is the investment holding company of the Group. The
Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of car park flooring materials.

For further particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group, details of which
are set out in Note 30(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business,
details are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 16 of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
details are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance
The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an
important issue for contributing to the continuous development of
society (along with the business activities of the Company).

The Group’s operation is not subject to any environmental
requirements in Hong Kong, except the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance (Chapter 295 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
‘Dangerous Goods Ordinance”), and that some of the works
conducted by the Group are subject to environmental compliance
examination under The Hong Kong Green Building Council’'s
“BEAM Plus” scheme. The Group has established effective
environmental management system in conformity with the
international standard requirements, for the provision of design,
construction, installation and maintenance services to the
customers.
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(B)

(€)

An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been
effective upon listing of the shares of the Company on GEM, which
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection.
All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required to diligently
implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed
regularly in light of experience, feedback from staff, business
development, current regulations and legislation.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Apart from the licensing requirement under the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance, the Group is not subject to any requirement to obtain
any particular approval or permit for carrying out the car park
flooring business in Hong Kong. The Dangerous Goods Ordinance
controls the usage, storage, manufacturing and conveyance of the
dangerous goods and sets out the relevant licensing requirements
in relation to these activities.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and Macau with the Company itself incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and Macau have complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in the above jurisdictions in all
material respects during the year ended 31 March 2022, and up to
the date of this report.

Key relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained
good relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors. During the year ended 31 March 2022, there
was no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors.

(B)

(€)
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 57 of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, a final dividend of HK1 cent
per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) was declared to the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK0.5 cent
per share for the year ended 31 March 2022, subject to the approval
of the Shareholders of the forthcoming annual general meeting on 26
August 2022 (the “AGM”).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will hold the AGM on 26 August 2022. Notice of the AGM
will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company and the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 August
2022 to 26 August 2022, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 22 August 2022.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 6 September
2022 to 9 September 2022, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. Only Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 9 September
2022 are entitled to the proposed final dividend payable on or about
10 October 2022. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 5 September 2022.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 March 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 are set
out on page 132 of this report. Such summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. These transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”). The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions
of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of
the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

(i) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners and services providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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(v)
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Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the INEDs) from time to time on the basis of his contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

1. subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption Date
(excluding, for this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise
of options which have been granted but which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue.
Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result
from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 60,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.
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The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at
any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules in
this regard.

The Company may seek separate approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options beyond
the 10% limit provided the options in excess of the 10% limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event, the
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
a generic description of such grantees, the number and terms
of such options to be granted and the purpose of granting
options to them with an explanation as to how the terms of
the options will serve such purpose, such other information
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the identity of the grantee, the number and terms of
the options to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the GEM Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the subscription price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on the date on the Adoption Date and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier
by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Share Option

Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2022. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 March 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DEBENTURE
No debenture was issued by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’ report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
year ended 31 March 2022 which (a) will or may result in the Company
issuing shares; or (b) requires the Company to enter into an agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into
by the Company.

DONATION
The charitable donation made by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$65,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
claims and legal actions against the Directors and its officers.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(A) Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company or any associated corporation
As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities & Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

R E

(A)

EERRSTHRAERARQ AN EAHE
FZENRG HEROREEZFEEN
EERKRE
N_BE-—F=ZF=+—H AQAEE
&= TERABRAR R SR A EE
(EERBBEDESNEZL R PEED
((EHRBERH ) EXVED) K8 - 18R
Bin REEFET - BHEREE %&%;%
FIEXVEBETRED BAEG AR R R
MERRAR (B %EEM%&WTMWﬁ
BIENEEREESRRAERNTMAE
BRKE)  RIREEH R HAEKHIE352
ﬁﬁﬂamah%hm%ﬁ%wm%éi
AR SR EGEM E T Bl 555.4625.67
1ﬁﬁé$ﬁﬁ AR HMANE KD T
RERFAOERRABNAT

Long Position in the Shares RR 7 EIIFE
Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest or interested shareholding
KA EARER
EEns EEinE HRDEE BORERDE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Interest in controlled 392,886,000 65.48%
(“Mr. Kwong") corporation (Note 1)
BEx et ((BEE]D REZEHER 2 #
(B3E1)

Note 1: Mr. Kwong beneficially owns 70% of the issued share capital
of Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”), the beneficial
owner holding 65.48% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Kwong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which
are beneficially owned by Sage City for the purpose of the SFO.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman and an executive Director of the

Company, and also a director of Sage City.
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of Director Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Number of

shares held
or interested
in associated Percentage of

corporation shareholding

HEREARERN
S EEME HESEERDBE REBDL
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”) Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,000 shares 30% in
in Sage City Sage City
EAEE([EEE)] EmBa A (f2) M Sage City#y 7 Sage City#Y
3,000 & 15 30%HE

Note 2: Mr. Yip is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of the associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the
Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REERADANRITEERITHE

BisEo

BEXHEEN R-E-—F=A=1+—
A BMEAAAEZTXAFESITRAERAK
NRAISAAEEEE (TERBEFRBER
BIEXVER) MRkt ~ BRI EEETHE
BEARBEES RBAEGIEXVEET RS
HMEe RN R KRR EAEEAE
(BEBEESREAERIEBIEUESH
EEIBGARENTMESIAR) &
BARE R RS KA FE35206B % BN %K
Frig B2 MR RRIEGEMLE TR AIE
54625 67 BBMESHETELF HMAH
SARNAIRBRNERZRAR
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(B) Substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’ interests

and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company

So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 March 2022, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
officer of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares

(B) FERRRHEMALEALARY - HE

BROREEZETFHERNEZR AR

BEERA RZZT_—_F=A=1+—81"
UTAL(UFARRBEESESTHA
)RBRHIAEERN P EERIEES KB
EIRGIEXVER 2 K37 B SUA R A A A
RETHBEBENERRAE  HEEFDR
RIEFEH RS KD E336IKATENER
FaMrmEaoks

BEIIFE
Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name Nature of Interest or interested shareholding
BFEREERERN

2B/ tE RS BB BMARER 2

Sage City Beneficial interest (Note 1) 392,886,000 65.48%
Emigs (M)

Ms. Li Chuen Chun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 392,886,000 65.48%

=Ey Lt fod g s (fsE2)

Notes: B 5 -

1. Sage City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
is owned by Mr. Kwong and Mr. Yip as to 70% and 30%, respectively.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman, an executive Director of the Company,
and also a director of Sage City. Mr. Yip is an executive Director and

chief executive officer of the Company.

2. Ms. Li Chuen Chun is the spouse of Mr. Kwong and is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Kwong is interested for the

purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
were not aware that any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows.

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this
report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 22 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee regularly reviews and
determines, with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the
remuneration and compensation packages of individual Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level
of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the transactions set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report, the Group has not entered into any
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of member of the Group was a party and
in which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conlflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Kwong and Sage City (together the “Covenantors”) entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Group (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) on 24 September 2016, details of which are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of non-competition” in the Prospectus (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”).
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The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual
confirmation on their respective compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking. The INEDs have reviewed the compliance of
the Non-competition Undertaking and evaluated the effective
implementation of the Deed of Non-competition, and they were satisfied
with the Covenantors’ compliance with the Non-competition Undertaking
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a) a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company; and (b) the contract is
not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 31.9% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
8.5% of the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest suppliers
and subcontractors accounted for approximately 72.3% of the total
direct costs of the Group and the largest supplier and subcontractor of
the Group accounted for approximately 35.1% of the total direct costs.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and subcontractors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2022 will be published around August 2022
based on the Group’s ESG Code in compliance with the requirements of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2022 is set out on pages 17 to 31 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least
25% held by the public.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$34.8 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC
will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the AGM. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that
requires disclosure.

By order of the Board
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Mr. Kwong Chi Man

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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To the Shareholders of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 55 to 131, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BASIS FOR OPINION (Continued)
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's REFESTMASEMA(EESFRBES
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have  BI) (LA NEFBISFR])) @ BB LR &%

BRNER (&)
B

m

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. WEBITTFARHEMEEEERF -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRETSRE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, FE#EEFZEEBERMOEEHE  REEAKN
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HGAFEBREANEAZTAEEMNEE - GLF
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the TEERERMETEEGAVEHRREEERR
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, #1TEIEH - BT HELEHEHREBNE
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate & °

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: RPEZTHRHEIOBERESTEAEMANT :

e Revenue recognition on construction contracts

o RESNMREHER

e Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets o EWEFEZREWGEESURANEE

Key Audit Matter
RRETSE

HO R (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMWESNTREBRETSHE

Revenue recognition on contracts for flooring and ancillary services (“construction contracts”)

WITHRREERE SN (RESHN]) HKHERER

Refer to Notes 2.19, 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates.

RRAMBETEE 2 REFORE  F2B&K46
BRI FE2.19 « 4(a) ®5 -

For the year ended 31 March 2022, revenue from
construction contracts was HK$109,312,765 (2021:
HK$117,953,930).
BE_S-_F-A=1T—HLEEE BESHFER
B e /109,312,765 T (Z 2 = — 4% : 117,953,930
/%7[3) =
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on construction
contracts included:

BMAREREAONUERARFERE

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal

control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as subjectivity involved in significant management
judgement.
TH BESEEREESNNKERERPE NIRRT ERE
WEEMF TR ENREREMERRREZAKT (NEX
EEEHEMIRMERN) UTREREXNERFANES
2B

- Evaluated and validated key controls over revenue
recognition on construction contracts.

AHE R ER LR DM RS RER T A REREH -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
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BREEEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMWESNIREEBRETSHE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts (Continued)

BESHNKSRER (&)

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the Group’s
projects, which is calculated as a ratio of “total
costs incurred” to “total estimated costs for each
project”. Based on the stage of completion, the
Group recognises revenue as a percentage of the
total contract amount at the end of a reporting
period.

BEAAFRNKEIRE EXEHEATIRERE
R URICEENKAEEBEIEEE OM[EK
AEBINLEFE - BETIRE X BEEERES
HRANGERENEEN A D L RERUE -

Management judgement is involved in the
estimation of total costs to complete, including
assessment of future costs of materials and
subcontracting costs.

B THRENEKAETRS  PREBEEREH
BT B ARRM B R AN D B o

We focused on this area as the determination
of stage of completion for a project involves
significant management judgement, which is
subject to a high degree of subjectivity and in turn
affects the recognition of revenue for the Group.
BRABILER RRAREETIRRNET SRS
EIBNBEAEREAE EhrE E£ENKR
FER o

- Compared actual costs incurred against budget costs,

on a sample basis for completed projects, and enquired
management about any material variance.
MELEREXTIHAMEEANERXAERENE  TEAE
BEARMEMNEAEZER -

- Enquired about and assessed management’s assumptions

on budget costs for a sample of projects, including
subcontracting costs, material costs and labour costs, by
comparing budget cost components to respective supporting
documents, including price quotations and rate of labour
costs. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated costs to complete.

BBLRRBEREKNAIBE BYROBAS (BRBEERS
IRARE) EHLFEEREHRAEANRERK (B
DEKAE - MRS TRAR) fENRE - HMMAR T %
TELIRAEREt BB ERN -

- Tested the total costs incurred as at the end of the reporting

period, on a sample basis, by checking to the underlying
documents supporting these costs (including invoices of
material costs and subcontracting fees).
BARBUEXANEEZRANMY (BEMHKEANS 2B
BR) mENERRERREEENKALE -

- Discussed the status of projects under construction with

management to determine whether there could be other
factors affecting the calculation of stage of completion, for
example potential claims, by checking to subsequent events
and financial information available to us.
BAGHAREANEHRAMAITESHOPBER  HERE
Awmie LHRIER AR NEERE A EME R (flnExE
RE)VETIRRNFE -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found that the
recognition of construction contract revenue based on stage of
completion was supported by the available evidence.
BEIMABTHRAEF  BMAER  RETIRBREIZESOK
= RRIRAREMIEN -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
-

BRETSE (R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMWESNARERRETSHE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets

BUESRRREURRESURSNEENRE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3.1(c), 4(b), 11 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

BRBBASER  ABRGOEE  B2HE56
ISR RME2.11 - 3.1(c) ~ 4(b) * 11K 13 °

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had gross trade
and retention receivables and contract assets
of HK$52,268,956 and HK$6,580,955 (2021:
HK$46,996,627 and HK$3,824,547) and provision
for impairment of HK$6,949,490 and HK$56,837
(2021: HK$4,583,989 and HK$17,845).
RZZEZZF=A=+—H ESERKEZIEZX
BEREB2UAREHNEEBED A R52,268,956/%
7T 526,580,955/ 7T (=T = — 4 : 46,996,627/8 7T &
3,824,547/ 7T) » MRERE D 7l /6,949,490 7T &
56,8377 (ZF = —4 : 4,583,989/ 7T & 17,8458
JT) o

Management performed the impairment
assessment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets based on the information included,
but not limited to the credit profile of different
customers, the aging profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, market conditions and past
settlement patterns. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
loss for the impairment assessment.
ERERBEEAN (BRETRATRAEFPNGEE
#R RN  EREBHEFPNRSE mHRAK
CHREEXS)HRKEFIRTRERRE € AR
uﬂéﬁkﬁmﬁ£m°aﬁFﬁﬁTﬁﬂ@%EE
HEBEEEE ZRESEUAYERFPHRERS
BREERAE NI ATIE L E R
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Our procedures in relation to impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets included:

ZMERERREZERRERRESURANBEERENREF B

Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal control
and assessment process of impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as complexity and subjectivity involved in significant
management judgement.

TR ESERNEREZERTRERFEEUAREDEENR
ERNAREG LA EREF YZRMGF I EEENEERA

thE A R E =K E (MEKEEEHE TSR NEMREE K
TEM)  UFEHREAERRANOBEFREE o

Evaluated and validated the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over debt collection and the
impairment assessment process, in particular those over the
identification of impaired receivables and the calculation of
the impairment provision.

Al R #E U Bl B 75 OB (B AT b AR 7 P A B AR 1 e R BT %
BERA BRI A BB B R AR K E Rt ERERES
RASR AR o

Tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade and retention
receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the respective
invoices.

BB AREEE
fie HOZEREIE

ORI B 5 R 5N R e R & R

Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses
provision methodology.

AERAEEBRREBIENGE -

Enquired about and assessed the information and data used
to determine the expected credit losses by considering the
cash collection performance against historical trends, the
level of credit loss changes over time, certain customers’
individual credit ratings and the reasonableness of forward-
looking information.
%L%fﬁﬁﬁi@%?%ﬁﬁ%%%%~%E%Em$%%
REZ BETEPMERNGEETRRAEEENNGEL &
ARERNETRBCEEERRAMANER REIE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B Y & B M ® & B

BREEEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MM E NI REERERETEE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets (Continued)

BHESRERRBEURBEURENEENHE (K)

We focused on this area because trade and
retention receivables and contract assets represent
49% of current assets and certain balances are
long aged. The estimation of impairment under
the expected credit loss model is also subject
to high degree of estimate uncertainty due to
subjectivity of significant assumptions used and
significant judgements involved in selecting data
for calculation.

ZAMINEE  TAREKEZERLERRES

Discussed with management the recoverability of individually
significant receivables, corroborating management
explanations by checking to the status of underlying projects,
information about contracted parties and subsequent
settlements, if any. We also tested the existence of
subsequent settlement on a sample basis by checking to the
underlying bank pay-in slips.

BERENRENEZNREKRFIAN RO K - W@ E%E
HEBRB MR  FTOTMERMERES (NE)BER - AED
BEEENERE - LA EBZERARTHN EmbER

WRENEEHBRDEENII%  BE THHAKK
BEAN -mRUAEMANEARRAB LB
EKBRERMBER S RENHE  gRBEAEES
BRAETHREGRT NFESE G TETE -

AERBBFENGTE -

We found that management’'s assessment of the impairment of
trade and retention receivables and contract assets was supported

by the available audit evidence.

ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

EEEHRLEIRIRERRESURANEEREN

AHE o REEHRA B BREMFH

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 2022 Annual Report (but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the 2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which is expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Hit 58
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y % B M ® & B

OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read “Environmental Social Governance Report”, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to audit committee and take appropriate
action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y % B M ® & B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Lam Chun Yee, Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

N

= PAN
=)

M B R R X

As at 31 March 2022 R —F -4 =H=+—H

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
Note 2022 2021
HK$ BT P === —T-—F
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E 6 12,744,163 9,555,793
Investment accounted for using FREDZEARZZE
the equity method 7 4,812,006 =
Investment in an insurance contract RRBEOZIEE 8 1,302,811 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 9 25,933,099 26,662,002
Deferred tax assets BIERTHEE 16 875 2,087
44,792,954 36,219,882
Current assets RBEE
Inventories "E 10 25,739,309 10,632,382
Trade and retention receivables BUEEFEIRELRES 11 45,319,466 42,412,638
Prepayments and other receivables B IE R E U R IR 12 2,724,075 1,948,654
Contract assets EMEBE 13 6,524,118 3,806,702
Current income tax recoverable EEEEIE Ry 831,651 349,588
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESLEEY 14 23,869,941 34,551,775
_____ USIOOSR00N 93701739
Total assets BEEAE 149,801,514 129,921,621
EQUITY s
Share capital 7R 15 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves 8 61,269,229 61,271,936
Retained earnings REBEF 34,835,083 33,371,435
102,104,312 100,643,371
Non-controlling interests FERER (287,876) (241,129)
Total equity e Fn okl 101,816,436 100,402,242

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B K

As at 31 March 2022 R —F -4 =H=+—H

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
Note 2022 2021
HK$ BT B 5E —E-— —E=-—F
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELERBEEE 16 101,298 89,085
Lease liabilities HEAE 9 375,982 254,228
477,280 343,313
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables ENE ZBRN 17 22,244,765 11,361,046
Accruals and other payables FEEH B A R H b JE 17 5038 18 3,126,168 1,594,942
Contract liabilities BHEE 13 5,415,056 4,098,358
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 15,090,311 9,410,482
Lease liabilities HEARE 9 469,453 315,817
Current income tax liabilities BIEIFEHAE 1,162,045 2,395,421
47,507,798 29,176,066
Total liabilities afEe®E 47,985,078 29,519,379
Total equity and liabilities BRkEEAE 149,801,514 129,921,621

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

EattaR A B B AR 3R e BB B B R — G Bl

o

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 131 were approved by the Board of Directors on
23 June 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

FESE13TE 2 A NBRERBES

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
BEXEE
Director

EF
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

8 2 m B & %

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R 4= =+ — HIL4ESE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RHLEFE

Note 2022 2021
HK$ BT B & —E-C —E-—F
Revenue &= 5 110,416,026 118,873,665
Cost of sales HEKA 21 (74,678,505) (77,098,570)
Gross profit EF 35,737,521 41,775,095
Other income and other gains, net H o g A T F At Y 25 5 5B 20 417,651 1,475,693
Impairment loss on trade and retention FUEEFERIRERRES
receivables and contract assets UREHEEZRERBE 11,13 (2,404,493) (2,078,021)
General and administrative expenses — B RITBAX 21 (24,104,059) (22,665,273)
Operating profit KT 9,646,620 18,507,494
Finance costs, net R I WNER 23 (296,337) (310,298)
Share of loss of an associate accounted FREREARZ
for using the equity method FEAG B & A R B 18 7 (187,994) -
Profit before income tax BR P15 B A& A 9,162,289 18,197,196
Income tax expense FTSHiAX 24 (1,742,223) (2,773,318)
Profit for the year FERA 7,420,066 15,423,878
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: BEEERRN/ (BE) !
- Owners of the Company - VYNETEZ =N 7,463,648 15,567,820
- Non-controlling interests ST (43,582) (143,942)
7,420,066 15,423,878
Other comprehensive loss: Hi2HEEE
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss Al EH HIEEBH 2 IEE
- Exchange difference on translation of —REINBEEK
foreign operations ENZEE (5,872) (15,438)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Ht2HEEE  MBRHE (5,872) (15,438)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HE KA 7,414,194 15,408,440
Total comprehensive income/(loss) Ea2mEkE (Fi8) 258!
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company - UNETEZ =N 7,460,941 15,557,497
- Non-controlling interests S (46,747) (149,057)
7,414,194 15,408,440
Earnings per share attributable to owners ZARQFEEAEEERER
of the Company
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EARREE (FREW) 26 1.24 2.59

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
e B ®& 2 8 x

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & E & " " 4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAER
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Shareholder ~ Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total

k& ROEE  EARE  RREE  BERE  REEA & FERER &t
(Note 15(a)) ~ (Note 15(a)) ~ (Note 15(b))  (Note 15(c))

HKS AT (W15(@)  (HE5(@)  (B15(0)  (HEE15(C)
Balance at 1 April 2020 RZZ-ZEMA

- BfEs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (804) 17,803,615 85,085,874 (92,375) 84,993,499
Profit(loss) for the year FEEf/ (B8) = - - - - 15567820 15567820 (143.942) 15,423,878

Other comprehensive loss for FEEM2ERE

the year
Exchange differences on BENEEK L

translation of foreign operations EXESR - - - - (10,323) - (10,323) (5,115) (15,438)
Total comprehensive EERE(BR)/

(loss)/income for the year WEEH = = - - (10,323) 15,567,820 15,557,497 (149,057) 15,408,440
Capital injection from the RE-FHEAR

non-controlling shareholder of FERRENTE

a subsidiary - - - - - - - 303 303
Balance at 31 March 2021 RZE=-£=R

=t-RANEs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (11,127) 33,371,435 100,643,371 (241,129) 100,402,242
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ & " " 4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAEBARLE
Non-
Share Share Capital ~Shareholder ~ Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total
e RivaE BAfE RELE BEkE REEN it FERER @it
(Note 15(a))  (Note 15(a))  (Note 15(b))  (Note 15(c))
HKS AT (Mit1a@)  (Wise)  (WzHs(b))  (fsE1s(c)
Balance at 1 April 2021 R-BZ-£@mA
— AL 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (11,127) 33,371,435 100,643,371 (241,129) 100,402,242
Proft/(loss) for the year FEEf/ (B8) - - - - - 7463648 7463648 (43582) 7,420,086
Other comprehensive loss for EEEM2ERE

the year
Exchange differences on BENEER L

translation of foreign operations EFEE - - - - (2,707) - (2,707) (3,165) (5872)
Total comprehensive FE2E(FR)/

(loss)fincome for the year gyt = = = = (2707) 7,463,648 7,460,941 (46,747) 7,414,194
Dividends (Note 25) 1R (Hr3kos) - - - - - (6,000,000)  (6,000,000) - (6,000,000)
Balance at 31 March 2022 R=BZZE=R

Zt-BMEs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (13,834) 34,835,083 102,104,312 (287,876) 101,816,436
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
FithR S R o B B 2k 8 SR BE TP S — O B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= 8 B & R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #&E R -~ "4 = =+ — H IL4ESE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HILEE

Note 2022 2021

HK$ BT i 5 === S
Cash flows from operating activities RETBFMEHERE
Net cash generated from operations KEERIE S 28(a) 3,592,349 19,763,253
Income taxes paid B REH (3,444,237) (2,196,892)
Net cash generated from operating activities &2 /ZBMEFR & 148,112 17,566,361
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ B EW% BERHRE (4,301,433) (921,137)
Investment in an associate REFE AR ZIRE (4,000,000) -
Investment in an insurance contract RERBEHZRE (1,413,262) -
Interest income received B R S A 105 14,606
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEMAFEES (9,714,590) (906,531)
Cash flows from financing activities METBMEHERE
Dividend paid BERRE 25 (6,000,000) -
Proceed from bank borrowings BERTEEMEBHIE 28(b) 6,440,000 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITEE 28(b) (760,171) (720,021)
Payment of lease liabilities YREEEE 28(b) (476,026) (658,032)
Interest paid BATFIE (296,442) (324,904)
Capital injection from non-controlling REFERREENTE

shareholder - 303
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEESFAFERS (1,092,639) (1,702,654)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁ%&ﬁ% CEMF

cash equivalents mA) (10,659,117) 14,957,176
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FVINRERBELEED

of the year 34,551,775 19,612,765
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ONEETE R LB ) & (22,717) (18,166)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRHIRENELEEY 23,869,941 34,551,775

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
FREREIRE R E R E RS I —HFE3E o

| ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 30 May 2016 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place
of business is 21/F, The Bedford, 91-93 Bedford Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing, specialised texture painting and
waterproofing works. The controlling shareholder of the Company
is Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) and the parent company of
the Company is Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 13 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment in an insurance contract
which are carried at cash surrender value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards and amendments to existing Standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
The following new and amendments to existing
standards and interpretations are mandatory for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2021.

Standards Subject of amendments
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Reform - Phase 2

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

There are no other new standards and amendments to
existing standards and interpretations that are effective
for the first time for this reporting period that could be
expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e M B ® x KW =&
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHHEHE (&)
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)
(b) New standards and amendments to existing standards (b) FHIRAERCA 5 7K AL E L TR

N2 FER R B ERZ EETA
AT 2RI K230 B R 2 B ET 0
ZRELQH  BEHR-E——
FMA—HRBRMS TR ER
AR RS B IR AT A

and interpretations that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

The following new standards and amendments to
existing standards and interpretations have been
published and are not effective for accounting periods
beginning on 1 April 2021 and have not been early

adopted by the Group:

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after

Standards Subject of amendments HUTRAMA 2%

8 Bz Bz et EEEN

Amendments to Annual Improvements project ~ Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 1 April 2022

FRUEIRRNET BAMBREEAN-_T-\FE-T_TF —E-—FMA-H
B FE L

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds Before 1 April 2022
Intended Use

BEGHENF165MERT NE BERZE: EREBRANFAERE “Z--fMA-H

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contract - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 April 2022

BEGHERIEITRAELT BEMEH-BAOKK —Z--FNA-H

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 April 2022

BAMBREENEIROERT RS ER “Z--#WA-H

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control 1 April 2022

‘ Combination

KT RS #595% HAZH AN A A —E-_FMA-H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 April 2023
Non-current

ERGHERE1RMERT BEAERARDAERY —E-=FNA-H

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 April 2023

BAMBREENETSH REaH ZEZ=FfMA—H

HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 April 2023

BERNBRERNETH ERUBREEIE1TROBE] —E-=FNA-H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements - 1 April 2023
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

EAREESR (ZT-TF) HHRRNZI -BRAHSHRER ZE-=fMA-H
EERINTRERN DB

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments) 1 April 2023

BREHEAZ R REBHHREEA S BRNBE (BI]) —Z-=FNA-H

EBHAER

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 April 2023

BE G ERE8HN BT EEHNTE “E-=%EA-H

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 1 April 2023

‘ ‘ from a single transaction

BAEGHERE12% A ELT HE-—RZPELNBRERARERNELRE ZEZ=FfmA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined
and its Associate or Joint Venture

BANBREENZ10% R REZBHBEAARAE R LHN BTERE

BB QR FBRNET

BELERIE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to existing Standards

and interpretations that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the new and revised standards and
interpretations when they become effective.

The Amendments to HKAS 12 require companies to
recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will typically
apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and
decommissioning obligations and will require the
recognition of additional deferred tax assets and
liabilities. As a result, deferred taxes arising from certain
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Group may
be recognised. The Group is assessing and quantifying
the impact at the moment.

Other than the aforementioned amendment, the new
accounting standard and other amendments to existing
standards, improvement, interpretation and accounting
guideline are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 RETFTHEBE (8)
(Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries 22 KEAH
Consolidation =3l
Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities) MBARANSEHEARZEHEN
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an ER(BRELEBEER) - EXAKEA

entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3

Investment in an associate

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group'’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from the associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investee have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investment is tested
for impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,

“functional currency”).

which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

2

& B B ® x KM ==

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.6 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the directors of the Group who make strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Investment in an insurance contract

The Group invests in a key management life insurance
contract. The insurance contract is initially recognised at the
amount of premium paid, and subsequently measured at its
cash surrender value. Changes to the cash surrender value
are recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
“‘other income and other gains, net”. In the event of death
of the insured person, the surrender of the policy, or the
policy matures, the investment will be derecognised and any
resulting gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

30 years

Shorter of remaining period of
the lease or 3 years

3 years

3 years

Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the construction
sites to be consumed in the provision of construction
services.

2.11 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial assets at
amortised cost are those that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. The Group’s
financial assets at amortised cost comprise of trade and
retention receivables, other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. For
financial assets at amortised cost, interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applied the simplified approach permitted
under HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.12 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade, retention and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional. The Group
holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When a trade, retention and other receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade, retention and other receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If collection of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If no, they are presented as non-current assets.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.15 Trade and other payables

REHHERE (B)

215 BENEZRAKREMELR

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers and sub-contractors. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable

income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in

deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses. Current and deferred

tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it

relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income

or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the
deferred tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there
is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services rendered in the normal course of business.

(a) Construction contracts
Revenue from the construction services is recognised
over time as the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The Group has applied the input method in
recognising the revenue from construction contracts
by reference to the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction on a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation. Accordingly, the Group uses
the “percentage-of-completion method” to determine
the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a
given period. The stage of completion is measured by
reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of
total contract costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

EXEHBERAE (E)

2.19 Wzt (&)

(a) Construction contracts (Continued) (a) BELH(E)

The Group considers the input method better depicts the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services to their customers.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included in contract revenue to the extent
that may have been agreed with the customer and are
capable of being reliably measured.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress
toward completion are revised if circumstances change.
Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated
revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the
period in which the circumstances that give rise to the
revision become known by management.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the
Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

All construction contracts by the Group are warranted
to be free of defects for a period of one year. Expected
cost for warranty repairs are accrued when necessary.

No element of financing is deemed present as payments
are in accordance with the typical payment terms of the
relevant industry.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due. Contract
liabilities are recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.

2.20 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.21 Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

EXEHBERAE (E)

2.21 BE&EA (&)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan
in Hong Kong and pays contributions to privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.

(c) Bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
owners. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.

2.22 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether
the arrangements take the legal form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises, motor vehicles and equipment.

Leases are initially recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.22 Leases (Continued)
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and

o lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate

implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the

Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities:

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.22 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

2.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value when
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the combined statements of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to combined statements
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, as
appropriate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The

Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk

and

liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on

the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the

Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and

the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are

undertaken by management.

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is
exposed to immaterial exchange risk from various
currency exposures.

As the assets and liabilities of each company within
the Group are mainly denominated in the respective
company’s functional currency, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s volatility of its profits against
changes in exchange rates of foreign currencies would
not be significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposits. Lease liabilities issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate
profile of bank borrowings is disclosed in Note 19. The
bank deposits generate interest at the prevailing market
interest rates.

As at 31 March 2022, if interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$18,000 (2021:
HK$52,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income over expense on floating rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEERREZ(E)
(c) Credit risk (c) EERE
Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and AEBHEERREERNER
retention receivables, contract assets, other receivables BES5BRFRERRES  A4E

and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances except cash on hand in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

The majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed
in financial institutions which are independently rated
with high credit ratings. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Other receivables

Other receivables are also subject to the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9. It is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, the identified impairment loss for
other receivables is assessed to be minimal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HBEARSE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEEREZ(E)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 1ZEER (&)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets ERE SN RIEWRE £ UK
BUEE

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade
and retention receivables and contract assets without
financing components.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and
retention receivables have been grouped based on the
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The Group divided trade and retention receivables
and contract assets into two categories to measure
the expected credit loss rates. Category 1 is for
customers who have a relatively low credit risk and no
default history. Category 2 is for customers who have
a relatively higher credit risk. With different types of
customers, the Group calculated the expected credit
loss rates respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HHREKRER(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)

& 2 ALR

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) ZEESRE)

Trade and retention receivables and coniract assets
(Continued)

For category 1, the Group considers that these
customers have a good credit profile and no default
history. Also, these customers are financially capable
of settling the outstanding amount. The expected credit

loss for these customers are assessed individually.

For category 2, the expected credit loss rates for the
trade and retention receivables is determined according
to a provision matrix where balances that are less than
12 months overdue are provided for at expected credit
loss rates per below and trade and retention receivables
more than 12 months overdue are 100% provided for.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 was determined as follows for trade and
retention receivables.

Category 1: Customers have a relatively low credit
risk and no default history

EWE SR IERRE & UK
RHEE (&)

REIVEMS  AKER/EL
EFAREBRMEENLAERE
RRCER - WS HEEPEMRE
LRENERANEE - %ER
FrBRBEEBETVBY IS -

FEEM S - BREZERR
FRREESHBEREEBRET
REEBEEET - HTafd
1218 A B ERE T PRSI T
HEEBEXEE  maliss
1218 A 60 R A E 5 Bk I B IR
B8k -

BEE - BWE FERARER
REBEN - E-_—FR-_FT_—
FZAZ+—HAZEIEREET
R o

F1E: FERRAYREAE
BURENEF

Trade and retention receivables

EWESERIARERRES
As at 31 March

R=B=+-H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-= —E-
Gross carrying amount REBE 27,533,686 24,800,272
Expected credit loss rates (Note) BEEEEIE R (f1:2) 0.2% 0.2%
Loss allowance BEEE (62,053) (47,604)
Net carrying amount REFE 27,471,633 24,752,668
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K O

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3

BERERE (E)
3.1 FEEREZEE)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 15 2z
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEY 2 555’1‘%\&/@&% 75 AR
(Continued) BHEE (&)
Category 2: Customers have a relatively higher credit 2l FERREEBRENE
risk F
Trade and retention receivables
EWESEHRENRES
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31to 60 61 to 90 over 90
Current 30 days days days days Total
K k] Ik Ik
HK$ #T Ul 30H/A  31F60H  61290H  #iBYOA ast
As at 31 March 2022 g
ZA=1+-H
Gross carrying amount RS 10,324,988 3,152,761 2,069,279 2,964,152 6,224,090 24,735,270
Expected credit loss rates  BEIEEBER
(Note) (i) 1.6% 12.7% 19.3% 31.0% 80.5% -
Loss allowance BEAE (162,068)  (398,902)  (398,681)  (917,594) (5,010,192) (6,887,437)
Net carrying amount REFE 10,162,920 2,753,859 1,670,598 2,046,558 1,213,898 17,847,833
As at 31 March 2021 \ZBZ-F
ZA=1-H
Gross carrying amount FRAE 9,380,112 2908912  1819,155 2,612,795 5475381 22,196,355
Expected credit loss rates EHEEERX
(Note) (i3 1.0% 7.9% 12.6% 19.1% 63.6% =
Loss allowance BRER (93,690)  (230,968)  (228,930)  (498,721) (3,484,076) (4,536,385)
Net carrying amount RREE 9286422 2677944 1590225 2114074 1991305 17,659,970
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/= a8 M & m x K =
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EEELE(E)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE Z IR IEWAREE £ LA K
(Continued) BHEE (&)
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress EREEERRABEZNAEEL
and have substantially the same risk characteristics REH HEAEREZER
as the current trade receivables for the same types of (EBEAOME) Z AR KB
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the Ao Filt - AEBR SR AER
expected credit loss rates for trade receivables are BSERNEREEBFEXDES
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the B HUREHNEERNBREE 1%
contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at PEE A%’]ﬁ?ﬁ"_’g::
31 March 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows for kZEZ—F=A=+—BHNE
contract assets. BREETNOT :
Contract assets BNEE
Category 1  Category 2 Total
HK$ BT %158 E2%E MEt
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZZE-—_5=A=+-—H
Gross carrying amount FREAE 3,456,271 3,124,684 6,580,955
Expected credit loss rates (Note) FEHER(ZE = (ff:) 0.2% 1.6% -
Loss allowance E e E (7,790) (49,047) (56,837)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,448,481 3,075,637 6,524,118
As at 31 March 2021 R-—ZE=Z—-F%=HA=+-—H
Gross carrying amount BREAE 2,522,680 1,301,867 3,824,547
Expected credit loss rates (Note) FEEZEEIRE (Hi5) 0.2% 1.0% -
Loss allowance BIEEE (4,842) (13,003) (17,845)
Net carrying amount R HE 2,517,838 1,288,864 3,806,702

Note: Expected credit losses rates were determined based
on the Group's internal and historical credit loss
data, the days past due and the probability of default
of customers. The Group also takes into account
forward-looking information on factors relevant to the
industry in which the Group and its customers operate,

such as investment level of Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& B B ® x KM ==

n

3

N

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and coniract assets
(Continued)

Trade and retention receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group. Impairment losses on trade and retention
receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding from
external parties.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
payments for capital expenditures, loan repayment,
trade payables, other creditors, accrued liabilities and
operating expenses. Accordingly, the directors are of
the opinion that the Group does not have significant

liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Fair values of balances due on
demand or less than 1 year approximate their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXERER(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEERE I?\(it)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) mEEZERE(E)
Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a BeEms éﬁﬁé‘@%ﬁ%iji%ﬁ‘%
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised BRRORITEE (RITAT2EBR
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the BRETEZIGER) » DWER
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the REEFERSHBETEER
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lender were ZRHBRABRLRL  AREE
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with AR 5| E B RE R L BIB U
immediate effect. éf?ﬁ( °

On demand Between Between

or less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
HK$ AT -FR  -E@AFR  ZEIER BBRLE @z
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZEZA=1-H
Trade payables EREHER 22,244,765 - - - 22,044,765
Financial liabilities included in GONHE-GN T E
accruals and other payables LEBEE 2,366,627 - - - 2,366,627
Bank borrowings BITRE 15,330,025 - - - 15,330,025
Lease liabilities HEBRE 489,665 194,060 200,001 - 883,726
40,431,082 194,060 200,001 - 40,825,143
As at 31 March 2021 R=2=-%=A=1-H
Trade payables EREAHEN 11,361,046 - - - 11,361,046
Financial liabilities included in STABSERREMENTE
accruals and other payables LERAfE 1,029,537 = = - 1029537
Bank borrowings BIRE 9,628,321 - - - 9628321
Lease liabilities fEaE 327,609 242,909 15,304 - 585,822
22,346,513 242,909 15,304 - 22,604,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3

N

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBEZE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) & ‘A/Wc b (%)
Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on HEEZHZDESRENKER
demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional E’Mi;km MERGETFTERAE
right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable T {m] A5 ] A 4 (R {5 4B WU S 30D
are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the R BEEENSRERAE
lender could demand repayment. Based on the internal FARERETHNZERER - 18
information provided by management, it is expected BEBERUNAINEE - Bt
that the lender will not exercise its rights to demand BERATEAEERETRORE
repayment. The expected cash flows with reference i o BEE T2 FTH A E N
to the schedule of repayments set out in the loan & EHRERENT :
agreements are as follows:
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and5 Over

1 year years years 5 years Total
HKS$ BT —FR  -E@ER  ZELER BRLE @t
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZHZB=+-H
Bank borrowings BITEE 6,267,854 1,263,924 3,791,772 5,015,493 16,339,043
As at 31 March 2021 R=BZ-%ZB=t-H
Bank borrowings RTEE 955,332 955,332 2,865,996 5972,382 10,749,042

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits

for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets

to reduce debit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

3.3

Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus
total borrowings (including bank borrowings and lease
liabilities). The gearing ratio of the Group was as follows:

= & B B | x KM

BHEREE (E)

3.2 EXEBERE (&)
ARENRBERTZA R MBER
(BRRTEERHEAR)AE - A
SEMNBERABLEMT

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—-8H

2022 2021
HK$ BT =G== —T_—F
Bank borrowings (Note 19) RITEE (Hit19) 15,090,311 9,410,482
Lease liabilities (Note 9) HEBEHNH9) 845,435 570,045
Total borrowings BEE 15,935,746 9,980,527
Total equity ARE TS 101,816,436 100,402,242
Total capital HBER 117,752,182 110,382,769
Gearing ratio EARGELE 13.5% 9.0%
Fair value estimation 3.3 AYEMLE
The carrying values of trade receivables, retention EWESED BUERES  HifE

receivables, other receivables, trade payables, accruals
and other payables and bank borrowings are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have an impact on
the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when trade and retention receivables and contract assets
are impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit losses
from each customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of follow-up
procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent
payments, customers’ financial positions and expected future
change of credit risks, including consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macro-economic
indicators, etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are
discussed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

4

5

= 8

M OB O® R K

B Stk aT R E ()

(c) B
ASBEBRBEERRFMER - 1
BEMSHAGRBEFLEARH
B-ARERETRS METHHA
R M FEBIBRE T DA
E o ARBERBHBEIMBARE K2
M EARBEAHREREERRE
B RMUEFRZRERBEREL
FPARZEEEMTRE AIBHER
BT EEFHERETHR NHR
EEHABEERER -

Was & o &R E

Year ended 31 March
HE=HA=1+—-HILLEE

2022 2021

HK$ BT —E-= EH==
Flooring o 3V 88 5% 96,974,433 106,707,155
Ancillary services RERHS 12,338,332 11,246,775
Sales of materials SHE MR 1,103,261 919,735
110,416,026 118,873,665

Timing of revenue recognition: W as W SR By ] I

At a point in time RER B 1,103,261 919,735
Over time & B 109,312,765 117,953,930
110,416,026 118,873,665
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K O

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Group who review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements
accordingly.

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong with substantially all
its non-current assets located and capital expenditure incurred in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, revenue was earned from
customers located in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$104,873,279
(2021: HK$108,406,751) and HK$5,542,747 (2021:
HK$10,466,914), respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, no customers contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group. Revenue from customers
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 was as follows:

Wik o EEHR (F)
HNTEFCHARTEENTIELERR
% Hiat AR E O NP IwIAR R
PABRER EZEHARENERR A —
BEED WAL UL ERR A A BRE

AEEEIBREBALERY HETHA
FIRBEENREBRETHAEAR
REBEL -

HE-_T-_—_&=-A=+—HI&FE"

AR EBEBRRBRMOE SR

2Bl A104,873,279%8 L (ZE = —F :
108,406,75178 7)) %5542, 7478 7L (=&
—4F 110,466,914 7T) °

HE-_Z-_—_F=-A=+—HLEFE I
EEFERASEBRGEIR10% REZE
“E-—F=-fA=+—-HLEEEHRLE
EAWRERI10%NE S AERIRENT -

2021
HK$ BT —E-—F
Customer A ZPBA 19,330,842
Customer B ZFB 13,929,868
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B & B B | & KM

6 WX -HEKkHZE

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles Total

HKS$ BT ¥ RARZE HAENERE RE @
At 1 April 2020 RZEZZENA—A
Cost DS 9,808,052 3,752,439 1620,798 2,060,286 17,241,575
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (907,827)  (2.931.401)  (1,035510)  (1,936,994)  (6,811,732)
Net book amount EHFE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
Year ended 31 March 2021 HE2-Z--%

“A=t-BLLFE
Opening net book amount BNEEFE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
Additions RE = 921,137 - - 921,137
Depreciation Vil | (326,935) (732,683) (540,266) (121,209) (1,721,093)
Disposal & = (74,442) = - (74,442)
Exchange differences ERES - 348 - - 348
Closing net book amount BREETE 8,573,200 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793
At 31 March 2021 R-B--£=f=+-H
Cost A 9,808,052 4,596,345 1620,798 2,060,286 18,085,481
Accumulated depreciation Z2ithhE (1,234,762) (3,660,947) (1,575,776) (2,058,203) (8,529,688)
Net book amount EmFE 8,573,200 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793
Year ended 31 March 2022 Hz-ZE--%

“A=t-BLERE
Opening net book amount BOEEEE 8,573,290 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793
Additions wE 3,646,700 386,263 266,470 - 4,301,433
Depreciation ik (420,812) (578,676) (111,639) (2,083)  (1,113,210)
Exchange differences BEHEE - 147 - - 147
Closing net book amount BREEDTE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 - 12,744,163
At 31 March 2022 R-B--£=f=1-R
Cost AR 13,454,752 4,984,879 1,887,268 2,060,286 22,387,185
Accumulated depreciation ZHIE (1,655,574) (4,239,747) (1,687,415) (2,060,286) (9,643,022)
Net book amount BHE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 - 12,744,163

During the year ended 31 March 2022, depreciation of
HK$535,985 (2021: HK$520,908) and HK$577,225 (2021:
HK$1,200,185) were charged to “cost of sales” and “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively.

Refer to Note 19 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

& B B ® x KM ==

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD

Interests in an associate

Set out below is the information of the associate of the Group as at
31 March 2022. The share capital of the associate consists solely
of ordinary shares. The country of incorporation of registration
is also its principal place of business, and the proportion of
ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights
held by the Group.

TRESZEARZEE
REE AR 2R

TRENAEE —HBERARN ==
FZR=+—HZEHR -ZWMELRZR
AEALTBRAR HEEMRIEAREHR
FTEEEMEER MASBRENMA
TR L Bl TR ERAR R L BIAE R o

Place of
business/
country of % of ownership interest  Measurement  Principal Carrying amount
Name of entity incorporation 2022 2021 method activity 2022 2021
E¥nY/ FraRER% KAk
ERAR AMRYER —B-ZF —F--F HEBRhA IEEH “BCCE CB--F
% % HKS HK$
B BT
Carful Group Limited (“CGL") Hong Kong 40% - Equity method  Provision of car- 4,812,006 =
sharing platforms
in Hong Kong
ENEEERAA(ERNER]) i BR% ERRRIAELE
¥a

On 21 February 2022, a subsidiary of the Group acquired 40%
equity interests in CGL at a consideration of HK$5,000,000, of
which HK$4,000,000 has been paid as at 31 March 2022. The
remaining consideration payable of HK$1,000,000 was included
in accruals and other payables to the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY 7 FRAERZRZEARZKRE (E)
METHOD (Continued)

Interests in an associate (Continued) REE AR 2w (F)

The tables below provide summarised financial information for TEREIIZEEARNMBER - TR
the associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts B & R B 5 AR R B A A D B IS ER R R
presented in the financial statements of the relevant associate and 2SR MIERAEEEENETE

not the Group’s share of those amounts.

Summarised balance sheet EEEERHEE 31 March 2022
—E-=

HK$ BT =Z=A=t—-H
Current assets MBEE

Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEEY 715,908

Other current assets Hh s & E 1,252,648
Total current assets MEBEERE 1,968,556
Non-current assets FRBEE 828,396
Current liabilities nEBE 497,373
Non-current liabilities FEMEBE 414,968
Net assets EEFHE 1,884,611
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: IREEER
Opening net assets at acquisition date RWERB BN EEFE 2,354,595
Loss for the period HAEE (469,984)
Closing net assets HRREFEE 1,884,611
Group’s share in % REBMHHE% 40%
Group's share in HK$ AEEGELAB IR 753,844
Goodwill EES 4,058,162
Carrying amount REE 4,812,006
Revenue g 778,706
Depreciation and amortisation hEREH (387,334)
Interest expense FEMX (17,146)
Loss for the period from 21 February 2022 to - —F-RA-+—-HE-Z -

31 March 2022 “A=+—RzBNEE 469,984

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

& B B ® x KM ==

INVESTMENT IN AN INSURANCE CONTRACT

The Group invests in key management life insurance contract,
which contains both investment and insurance elements, with a
director of the Group as the insured person.

Investment in a key management life insurance contract was
arranged with a major financial institution in Hong Kong, which the

8 RREBENZRE
AEBREN—NIBEREASRRA
K ERESRERRRRD - MEXEA
RASE-RE=Z-

TEEBRBASRRAOTIAEE M
EeRBBERE MEFHGAKEBAR

directors believe are of high credit quality. EEEX-
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the investment in an RZE-_—_F=A=+—H ' RREREY

insurance contract is denominated in US dollar (“USD”).

Movement of the Group’s investment in a key management life

insurance contract is as follows:

ZREMBEBAZT ([T FHE -

AEERTEERBABRRONZIKE
mEBHWT

HK$

BT
At 1 April 2021 R-_ZE-—FmWA—H -
Addition i 1,413,262
Changes in cash surrender value ReRREBEED (122,240)
Exchange differences M N = 11,789
At 31 March 2022 RZE-__F=RA=+—H 1,302,811

Refer to Note 19 for information on non-current assets pledged as

security by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

LEASES 9 H#HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (a)
financial position

RGEHBRREREZNS R

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H

2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-— —E-—F

Right-of-use assets EREERE
Leasehold land HE L 25,119,422 26,110,964
Properties leases MEMRE 518,957 498,797
Motor vehicles RE 294,720 30,575
Photocopiers 2 ENH - 21,666
25,933,099 26,662,002

Lease liabilities HESE

Current nE 469,453 315,817
Non-current FERE 375,982 254,228
845,435 570,045

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leasehold land, leased premises, motor vehicles
and photocopiers under lease arrangements over the lease
terms from 2 to 30 years. They are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

Refer to Note 19 for information on non-current assets
pledged as security by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, additions to the
right-of-use assets were HK$761,416 (2021: HK$554,823).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED &

FEREEERASBEREREZH
H2EI0EMEEHNERAEEE
T MERM  TERFEHEME
Ko ZEBERMARRAFTERR
AREBENE YiRENEEARE
ZEHAERLAE-

BRAKRECEAZERDEENE
B F2HME19 -

BE-_E-_—_F#=R=+—BIt#E
B o FEREEEAT614168 T
(ZZ=——4% :55482387T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= a8 M B ® xk W =
9 LEASES (Continued) 9 M5 (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (b) RGEZEWRREIRNEE

comprehensive income

During the year 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEFE

2022 2021
HK$ BT —E- = —E-—
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESERE
(Note 21) (BiF21)
Leasehold land HELH 991,542 991,542
Leased properties HEWE 409,697 328,267
Motor vehicles P! 67,414 366,895
Photocopiers SENHk 21,666 43,334
1,490,319 1,730,038
Expenses related to short-term HEMEENRER I MAX
leases payments (Note 21) (Btetot) 485,255 444,694
Interest expense (included in MBS R GE AR B A)
finance costs) (Note 23) (Btet23) 27,848 17,077

During the year ended 31 March 2022, depreciation of
right-of-use assets of HK$177,098 (2021: HK$124,468)
and HK$1,313,221 (2021: HK$1,605,570) were charged to
“cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses”

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,

respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cash outflow
for leases was HK$989,129 (2021: HK$1,119,803).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x KM

LEASES (Continued) HE (&)
(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (c) *EENHEETHIRAEARAR
accounted for
The Group leases warehouses, motor vehicles and AEEHERE  AEMFHEK - &
photocopiers. Rental contracts of warehouses, motor vehicles B RBEMyH#NEESNRER
and photocopiers are typically made in accordance with the REEEAHPITHNBEIY
lease terms as stipulated in the rental contracts.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEREERER CEEEKN - &
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The ERBIRMGRAIEE BT HA
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than ABENHEEENERERIN - A
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the EnETEATENZH - REELT
lessor. With the exception of leasehold land, leased assets o - EEENFAEETEOER -
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
(d) Termination options (d) #RIEEERE
Termination options are included in some of the leased AEEMETHENMER SKILER
properties across the Group. These are used to maximise o ZEEERANEERGEES
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in Al AEBEEEEASEEEMA
the Group's operations. BE-°
INVENTORIES 10 78
As at 31 March
W=B=+—-H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —2_C —F_—F
Flooring materials 0 3V S0 2R MK 22,023,131 9,036,379
Waterproofing materials il R 3,454,692 1,475,392
Specialised texture painting HELIBRG 261,486 120,611
25,739,309 10,632,382

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the costs of inventories

recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted
to HK$37,089,884 (2021: HK$41,209,020) (Note 21).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, provision for obsolete

inventories of HK$39,088 (2021:

HK$232,995) was made (Note

21). The Group also wrote off inventories with no resaleable value
amounting to HK$240,764 (2021: HK$642,788) (Note 21).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

REBEE-T-_—F=A=1+—HLEE"
ERABEAITHAHENKN] 2FE
Bk 7N 237,089,884 L (Z T = — F ¢
41,209,020/ 70) (KsE21) °

BE-T-_-_f=-A=+—BLFE &
BREGSEL T E#E39,0888 T (T =—
% :232,995% 7T) (FiizE21) ° NEE M
HTEESEEAENTE240,7648L (ZF
——4F 642,788 L) (KsE21) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

11

& B B ® x KM ==

TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 11

BUREZERERARERRE S

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-_— ==
Trade receivables EUE 5 8RR 36,966,621 33,218,921
Retention receivables N RE & 15,302,335 13,777,706
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (6,949,490) (4,583,989)
Trade and retention receivables, net EWEZEFRERRE S FHE 45,319,466 42,412,638

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for
retention receivables is within 30 days. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retentions varies from contract to contract,
which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the
defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is

RYESEF (BURBEHIN) NEEH
RB0E A - BRAMERIRE & A R AR
REAAME  JRARTERTT - F
ENERAEABENRRMNE - XAEHE
TEFETMERRE/ER -

FEWE ZRFERER B LMKk D10

as follows: T
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-= SE==
1 - 30 days 1230H 8,511,547 4,534,366
31-60 days 31£260H 7,709,595 6,658,014
61 - 90 days 61290H 4,025,856 3,232,109
Over 90 days HiB90H 16,719,623 18,794,432
36,966,621 33,218,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention
receivables were classified as current assets based on operating
cycle. The ageing of retention receivables based on invoice date is

11

= & B B | x KM

BUREZRARERRES ()
EFEAMBMART  BURARESERE
ERHEIBRARDEE BEARESE
REZHHHORKREMOT

as follows:
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT SEESS ===
Within 1 year 1ER 5,742,864 6,437,899
Between 1 to 5 years 1254 9,559,471 7,339,807
15,302,335 13,777,706

The carrying amounts of trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Trade and retention receivables are denominated in the following

FBUEZERRERGFE SHNEHAE
B AnEREEREAAVERS -

FBUWE ZERREREE A TG

currencies: g
As at 31 March
W=B=+-H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E=-= —E-—
HK$ BT 46,472,288 40,771,499
MOP BT 5,796,668 6,225,128
52,268,956 46,996,627

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all trade and retention receivables. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(c).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

AEERBEBMBRELENFEIRNE L
TERERREREER  ZNERMBE
WEIEFLERRESERA2HEHE
EERRE MEANBRREEAZEH
BRI EES. 1(c) N T & ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

11 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued) 11
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and retention

EWESRAFEERRES (B)
EWE BERT N ERRE S EREREGE
I :

receivables are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ BT =2== —T_—F
As at 1 April KU A—H 4,583,989 2,360,890
Impairment loss on trade and BB ZERRERRE M
retention receivables EEE 2,365,501 2,223,099
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 6,949,490 4,583,989
12 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 12 FERFEREMERFIE
As at 31 March
R=ZB=+-—8
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-— —E-—F
Prepayments TRk IE 1,989,262 1,421,081
Other receivables H b e IR 734,813 527,573
2,724,075 1,948,654

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments and other AEBREMZBLREMERFENERE

UTHEEEHE

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 March

W=B=+-H
2022 2021
HK$ ET —E-C —E-—fF
HK$ BT 2,343,501 1,054,810
MOP SBPY T 485 427,020
Others Hit 380,089 466,824
2,724,075 1,948,654

The carrying amounts of prepayments and other receivables
approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

13

= 8

M OB O® R K

BNEE/(BE)

As at 31 March

R=B=+-H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-_= EE =
Contract assets EHEBE 6,580,955 3,824,547
Less: provision for impairment R B (56,837) (17,845)
6,524,118 3,806,702
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—8
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C =
Contract liabilities EHAEE (5,415,056) (4,098,358)

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditional on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights for consideration
become unconditional. The Group typically reclassifies contract
assets to trade receivables on the date of acceptance reports
issued by the customers and invoices issued to them when such
right of collection becomes unconditional other than the passage
of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
retention receivables. The contract assets are related to contracts
which are still in progress and the payment is not due.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

RHBETRAAKENEEAMAEER
MIRERRENEFNER REEZE
BANREERBERREREEEER
BEVRREKBA BIRM - ERERK BEROER
RABEGEE AHEEERERKES
EX - AKEBRRERFPELBRUBER
MEERLERE B (MIEREERE) K54
BEBHDERERE KRN -

ANEERREEERTIRAR YTHR
FEUE 5 B3k e B IR B & MO BB A R
AR - ANEERREEBANREKED
HNERIREM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

13 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) 13 BHEE/(8fF) (&)
Movements on the provision for impairment of contract assets are AHBEREREZZFSHNOT
as follows:
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E_— T
As at 1 April REA—H 17,845 162,923
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment &% &ERERE / (FERE)
loss) on contract asset 38,992 (145,078)
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—8H 56,837 17,845
Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note FTE Az B R AEE 2 FE TR M
3.1(c). 3.1(c)Fmil °
(a) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (a) BEEXNEERIANNE
The following table shows the revenue recognised during TREWREZ_ZE-_—_FK_-F
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 related to T—FZA=T—HLEFEREES
carried-forward contract liabilities. NaEmrRNHKE
Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-— —_EF-—
Revenue recognised that was included 3t AFEHE LB EEHEH
in the contract liabilities balance at BERRKE
beginning of the year 3,111,338 4,072,976
(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (b) REMBHER
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligation TRITETERRPEESVES
resulting from fixed-priced long-term construction contracts. HIREKBLHEME -
As at 31 March
W=B=+—8
2022 2021
HK$ BT —%-C T
Aggregate amount of the transaction 209 8t 72 & K ER &)
price of construction contracts that HEAHW
are partially or fully unsatisfied RS ER R 59,964,618 35,696,440
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (Continued)
Management expects that the transaction prices regarding
the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2022 will be
recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress
towards completion of the contract activities.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

= & B B | x KM

BHEE/(AE) (&)

(b) RERBHEMT(E)
EEEE;G R_ZT-__F=A
“+—BEMRERAUNRHER
B2ETKE LEBREFEER AR

e
m °

EEMAND R —FLAERHR -
BEEM B REERF 155 A G
NEEZERERSNNRZHERL

RIEE o
14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14 RERREEEY
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —F-- ===
Cash at bank and on hand IRITRFERE 23,869,941 34,551,775
Maximum exposure to credit risk FrEEN &= EERR 23,842,100 34,532,055

The Group’s cash at bank is mainly deposited with banks in Hong
Kong and Macau, all of which had a maturity of not more than three
months. Cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

AEBORTHEEEEHATS R
HRFT - FERTRSH M AT
B=EA - ROTRSENGARIERA
ERBAEL S -

ReMREFBMATIERTE

currencies:
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-= —EF=—
HK$ BT 21,896,576 28,158,560
Others Hth 1,973,365 6,393,215
23,869,941 34,551,775

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

Re kR FEVNEAEREE N TER
=,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
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15 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

15 BRAK#E

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

(a) Share capital and premium (a) BRAREE
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
HK$ BT EERHE EBREE
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each SR EE0.0178 T H) & @K
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 RZEZZTFMA—AH
and 2022 —E-—FR-T
=H=%—8 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
HK$ BT EERYA EBREE B0 R E
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR
Ordinary shares at SREEC.01E T LB
HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2020, 31 March  R-ZT-ZF[AF—H -
2021 and 2022 TECENRN-E-F
=A=+—H 600,000,000 6,000,000 52,482,955




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

15 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Capital reserve

(c)

Capital reserve as presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 represented
the shares contribution made by shareholders at nominal
value as part of the reorganisation before listing.

Shareholder contribution

The Group operated an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the Group received services
from Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”), a then consultancy service
provider and the executive director of the Group. Under the
share-based compensation plan, Mr. Yip provided technical
and marketing consultancy services to the Group in return
for share options to acquire a 30% equity interest of Sage
City at nominal consideration. The options were granted on
18 December 2003 and became exercisable on 31 March
2012, before being exercised on 14 August 2015. The amount
in shareholder contribution represents the fair value of
services received, the valuation of which was performed by
an independent qualified valuer using an income approach
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The share-based compensation expenses for such
services were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date when the options
were granted on 18 December 2003 until the date when the
non-market vesting conditions were met and the options
became exercisable on 31 March 2012.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

15 BRAKHE (E)

(b)

(c)

BEXNfEE
RZB__ER-_Z_—-%5=R
S+t HHNERMBRAKRZINE
AFBERREREFLOEREE
(ERLMAEAMN—IR) -

BRRHE
ARERBEEREB RN HER
ZREFE Bt ARERERZ

BRRGREERAEBRTESE
A ([EE4]) EBURS - RiE
ARG AEREREETE - EEER
AREBRMRMN &L HERRY - (E
REW®  BALEREERTAIKE
Sage City 30%Rk#E 2 BRiE - %%
BRER-_ZT=F+-A+N\BH%
B RZTE-——F=ZA=1+—H%
ABATE UR-FT-—RAFNATHE
RETE - RERLEZSBEAMEE
Rz ATE HEEDABYEE
REEME2ZERLERTIAND
TERERARGEEET - RZRBE N
ARG AERNHBERIE AN Z
TE=F+-A+/\BELERER
HEREREMS LN REBIEMTA
HIERGRA2ERSERER  BRE
ERZE——F=A=+—HEZAW
1118 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

16

& B B ® x KM ==

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
authority.

Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

16 EEFTEH

EREEARTENE NN IAR E SRR
BREEKH UREELCHSHER—H
BRERARE - MARETHAEERR

BEEAREE -

EEHREE/ (ABE)WEHNT :

2022 2021
HK$ BT =8== —T_—F
As at 1 April RIA—H 86,998 127,299
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated  REGAZ2E K EX
statement of comprehensive income ek (GtA)
(Note 24) (Kii#24) 13,425 (40,301)
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 100,423 86,998
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

16 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year,

16 BB (&)
EAA R BRI BLAER R H A 6

without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within

MERT  FANEEREEE (A

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: BEIT ¢
Deferred tax assets: BEREEE !
Decelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT HERIEINE
At 1 April 2020 R-E-_ZTFNMYA—H =
Credited to the consolidated statement of RiEEE2EMEERTA
comprehensive income 2,087
At 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—F=A=+—8 2,087
Charged to the consolidated statement of Rira 2 Ea Rk
comprehensive income (1,212)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—8 875
Deferred tax liabilities: EEFEEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT MERBINE
At 1 April 2020 RZEZTFMA—H (127,299)
Credited to the consolidated statement of REEE2EEERFTA
comprehensive income 38,214
At 31 March 2021 R-_ZE-_—F=B=+—H (89,085)
Charged to the consolidated statement of RizE2ERERNR
comprehensive income (12,213)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—8 (101,298)

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

2
ol

111



112

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

17

& B B ® x KM ==

TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

17 BERNEZRERR

BNEZEFENER A HRE DT

follows: N
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C -
1 - 30 days 1£30H 11,232,316 5,832,412
31 -60 days 31£260H 3,290,333 1,960,520
61— 90 days 61£290H 3,718,641 722,118
Over 90 days HBiEo0H 4,003,475 2,845,996
22,244,765 11,361,046

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

BNESRAATIIEEEE

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—-8
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-= —E-—
HK$ BT 22,115,255 9,444,313
MOP BT 129,510 1,833,772
Others Hith = 82,961
22,244,765 11,361,046

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair

values due to their short maturities.
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18 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

18 B ERARAMENTR

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E_— —E-_—F
Accrued expenses fE=HBA L 2,126,168 1,579,021
Other payables H A FE 1 5R 0B 1,000,000 15,921
3,126,168 1,594,942

Accruals and other payables are denominated in the following

T ERREMENREATIEREEE -

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=F=+-—-8
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C —T-—F
HK$ BT 2,851,873 1,438,532
MOP SBFI T 241,009 105,087
Others Hit 33,286 51,323
3,126,168 1,594,942

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate
their fair values.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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19 BANK BORROWINGS 19 RITEE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2022 2021
HK$ T —E-C —T-—F
Secured g
— Bank borrowings which contain —BERERBEERRD
a repayable on demand clause RITEE 15,090,311 9,410,482
The fair values of bank borrowings approximate their carrying HREENEEYAEA  BTEENA
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. As at 31 TEEHEmMERESE R-_ET-_—%F=AH4
March 2022, the Group’s effective interest rate for bank borrowings =t—B AEERTEENERFIXA
was at a floating rate of 2.4% per annum (2021: 2.4% per annum). RREF24% (ZEZ—F : §F2.4%) °
The bank borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled BREEFREMENECERBE 817
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, are as follows: EERNETIRMTEHE :
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C —E-—
Within 1 year 1R 6,028,404 737,493
Between 1 to 2 years 1226 1,053,797 755,388
Between 2 to 5 years 2F5F 3,299,357 2,377,439
Over 5 years R B5F 4,708,753 5,540,162
15,090,311 9,410,482
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19 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

20

As at 31 March 2022,
facilities of HK$27,590,311 (2021:

total term and revolving banking
HK$23,410,482) of which

approximately HK$12,500,000 was unutilised (2021: approximately
HK$14,000,000). These facilities were secured by:

(ii)

(iif)

certain assets included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
HK$10,095,608 and HK$25,119,422 (2021: HK$6,802,913
and HK$26,110,964), respectively;

investment in an insurance contract with a carrying amount of
HK$1,302,811; and

corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has not breached any of the
covenants of the banking facilities. The bank borrowings are
denominated in HKS.

19

= & B B | x KM

RITIEE (&)
RZEZZF=FA=+—H THEER
RITEE®EA27590 3BT (ZT=—
F : 23,410,482 7T) + EH £912,500,000
BITAREA (ZZ=—4 : £914,000,0007%
TT) o ZEREE TN TERE -

() ETAYME BERIEMEHE
EENETEE EEEED T
410,095,608 7T 25,119,422/
T(ZF=—%:6,802913%F T &
26,110,964/ 7T )

RRBREHNZRE HEEEAR
1,302,811 : &

(iily ARABRGERBER -
RZEZZF=A=+—0 KAEEIX

RREARTRARL  ROERIET
e

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 20 HiWARHt WK FE
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t-HLEE
2022 2021
HK$ BT ke —E——F
Government grants (Note) B RE (M at) 502,891 1,472,456
Changes in cash surrender value of REBAEHZILED

investment in an insurance contract Be&RREBRL (122,240) -
Others Hith 37,000 3,237
417,651 1,475,693
Note: The government grants for the year ended 31 March 2022 mainly Wi BEZZ-__F=ZA=+—HILFEH

represented the subsidies provided by the Construction Industry
Council under the Approved Technical Talents Training Programme
(2021: the subsidies provided by Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the Employment Support
Scheme arising from the novel coronavirus-2019 pandemic
(“COVID-19")).

contingencies attached to these grants.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

21

8 B % & & B =

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales and general and administrative

expenses are analysed as follows:

BHEE DB X
SAHERANR —REITERASWER
DR ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HILHFE

2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C T
Cost of materials used B A BB A 37,089,884 41,209,020
Subcontractor costs 2B AR 31,029,044 30,327,941
Employee benefit expenses (Note 22) EERNEX (F1:222)
— direct labour —HEST 4,639,648 3,024,196
— administrative staff —THETL 14,914,886 12,945,702
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZENE
equipment (Note 6) (Ktit6) 1,113,210 1,721,093
Depreciation of right-of-use EREBENE (H:19)
assets (Note 9) 1,490,319 1,730,038
Expenses related to short-term FHERHEENTNAX
lease payments 485,255 444,694
Repair and maintenance expenses wiENBERY 64,526 119,222
Motor vehicle expenses ABEHRE 1,192,447 1,125,478
Auditor’s remuneration ZEED N
- audit services —ZE R 1,100,000 970,000
- non-audit services — ERERG 71,000 47,000
Write-off of inventories MEFE 240,764 642,788
Provision for inventory obsolescence REFEEE 39,088 232,995
Other expenses Hibk X 5,312,493 5,223,676
98,782,564 99,763,843

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

= & B B | x KM

22 EEREANEX

Year ended 31 March
HE=HA=1t—-HILLEE

2022 2021

HK$ BT —E-_= EE =
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances ~ T4 - ¥4 - {E41 & 284 19,004,011 15,520,469
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme Bk & fk 7N — & S8 2T 2 550,523 449,429
19,554,534 15,969,898

Companies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
minimum of 5% of the employee’s relevant income as defined
under the MPF Scheme, with the maximum mandatory contribution
by each of the Group companies and its employees limited to
HK$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary.

The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in
the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled
to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or
leaving the Group after completing one year of service.

Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are
used to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary contributions.
There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) to offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution schemes.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

AEEETZBEBRRAHE2EEHER
BEFEGHT 2B EAESE (M58
BEatEl))  ZArE MBI ERAER
ZEBBREE

REREETE AKEETRALEE
BYAREERBAR (EXR BB
8l) 2 RES%IER ABRM MK - AR E
ETRABRREEES A ZRHMEHKAE
A1500BLA LR YA EE—F BRI
BOMER -

BHEMEHR BN N2HBEREEZ
JEHARA o 1B B N R INSE R W1 512 BE 5
AKEE HRFAEE2HAREHEZTR
AEEZ2BMEREREMN -

EDR M2 RSB B R4 KA B ERUE
AEEBRZEBBEREIMHN  LEEM
R (RENER2EFEAABEMNE 2
1B B ATt 50 ) $OR WA 3 7 B fH SRAT &)
TZREHK
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& B B ® x KM ==

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 22
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 include two directors
(2021: three) whose emoluments are reflected in Note 27. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2021: two) individuals
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

HK$ BT

EERAMAX (E)

FTEAREHAL
RBE-_ZTZ-_—F=-A=+—HUIEFE"
AEBFHERNREEATEERS (ZF
TF:ZR)EF HEMEMNME27 -
REE-_ZT-_—_F=F=+—HILtFE -
ENST=%(ZT=—F ML) ALH
T

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances T & %  {EAL 28,
Pension cost - defined contribution scheme RRK & A — 2B ET 2

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

2022 2021
—E-C —EF_—
2,782,911 1,826,300
48,000 36,000
2,830,911 1,862,300

BRHEMIRATEE -

Number of individuals

AH
2022 2021
—E-C B
Emolument band HH s E
Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,000 - $1,500,000 1,000,000/%8 7¢ £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R




23

24
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FINANCE COSTS, NET

23

B AN R AR

Year ended 31 March
HE=HA=1t—-HILLEE

2022 2021
HK$ BT —E_— —E-_—F
Finance income IR ON
- Bank interest income —RITHEWA 105 14,606
Finance costs B B AR
— Interest on bank borrowings —RITEEFE (268,594) (307,827)
- Finance charges on leases liabilities - THEEBUMBER(HH9)
(Note 9) (27,848) (17,077)
L......(206442)  (324,904)
Finance costs, net B TS B AN SR 58 (296,337) (310,298)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 24 FREHIEX
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated REE2EBRRNAENAZ 28EIE

statement of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2022 2021

HK$ BT —E-C —E—F
Current income tax: BIERFT 1S -

- Hong Kong profits tax - BEBENEH 1,680,852 2,912,104

— Under/(over)-provision in prior years - BAFERETIR/ (RERE) 47,946 (98,485)

1,728,798 2,813,619

Deferred income tax (Note 16) EXEFEH (HiF16) 13,425 (40,301)

Income tax expense AL 1,742,223 2,773,318
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24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 24
(i) Hong Kong profits tax

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax regime, for the
subsidiary entitled to this benefit, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on
the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits for
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. For other Hong
Kong incorporated subsidiaries, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 16.5%.

(i) Macau corporate income tax
Macau corporate income tax has been provided at the
applicable rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profit in
excess of MOP600,000 (approximately HK$583,000) of the
Group’s operations in Macau.

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to the profit of the consolidated entities as

FEHAxX (&)

(i) BERNEH
BREFSHMES  REZEZEEN
MWBARIME BE_T-__Fk=
Z-_—F=A=+—HLEEE &S
RS IR A s R PR £ &2,000,000
A TTIA8.25%T & + i H R (A 5T B AR
BmF AR 16.5%: 8 - Kb E &
A L2 B A R R B B FIS 5 Al
1£16.5%1 & ©

(i) RPIEEFREH
BECERBROEASEERMAER
B ETFE SR 05 A P iR 8600,0002 P
7T (#9583,000% 7T) B 26 12 bA 38 A Bt
KA12%EHR B -

AKBRAERAR M HBERRBER
RERE AR E 88 008 710 hi i F 19 i X5
EnEmMENZRN T

follows:
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=T-HLFE
2022 2021

HK$ BT —E-C —F- -
Profit before income tax B BT 15 75 Al i 9,162,289 18,197,196
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates RERMEFERBIAR 1,336,042 2,914,101
Income not subject to tax BAERDA (85,902) (301,108)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AN AT

purposes 524,866 414,457
Utilisation of previous unrecognised PRz ERIZHIBER

tax losses (40,729) (74,493)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BAEFERETR/ (BHEEE) 47,946 (98,485)
Tax deduction FRIBH R (40,000) (81,154)
Income tax expense PSRRI 1,742,223 2,773,318

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.17(b),
the Group has no unrecognised tax losses as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$246,840).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B B B x W &
DIVIDEND 25 RE

2022 2021
—E=-= —T=—F

Proposed final dividend BEREARS —8KR0.5% 1L

- HKO0.5 cent per share (ZZ2=—%F : FR1B)
(2021: HK1 cent per share) 3,000,000 6,000,000
Dividend paid during the year ended 31 March 2022 was REBEE-_ZT_—_F=-A=+—HLFEE

HK$6,000,000 (2021: nil).

A final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31
March 2022 of HKO.5 cent per share (2021: HK1 cent per
share), amounting to a total dividend of HK$3,000,000 (2021:
HK$6,000,000), is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect this dividend payable.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years.

26

=
JEITRES.6,000,0008 T (ZF=_—F 1 &) »

AANRBENERTZRREBFAE LI
EEE-_TE-__F=-A=1+—-RBIHHEE
EIRN RER S FRRO5BI (ZE=—F:
FRR1E) - R BB S /3,000,0007%
T(ZZ=—% :6,000,0007T) - L&
BHREITS R ENGRE -

AREERAREERER
BREABNREBFEZARAEEA
JEAR i M BR A B B 1T & B A0 In4E F 15 2

e

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HILEE

2022 2021
HK$ BT —g=-c= —E——
Profit attributable to owners of RRARGEE NG G F
the Company 7,463,648 15,567,820
Weighted average number of ordinary B 31T IR MR A InAE 9 8
shares in issue 600,000,000 600,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREREF (L) 1.24 2.59

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Potential
ordinary shares are dilutive when, and only when, their conversion
to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings per share is equal to basic
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X
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27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 27 E#Z=FFARAE (FH QKM (F622
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE B)EIBIER AT (WEEERHER)
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND B0 (5£622GE) FTi EMIE)
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) E=Me (HERTIZEEEHMH)
compensation)
The remuneration of the directors is set out below: EEMEEHIWT :
For the year ended 31 March 2022: BE-_Z-__F=-A=+—-HLEEE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HKS A FRES (FRRALTHENBAALE) RENEARBE AR NS
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer’s  of the affairs

contribution of the

toa Company

Allowances retirement orits

Discretionary  and benefits benefit  subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total

RESHEL

REAL

mEA  AEMELT

BAiE b¥EESH

EHR fetl BEBER

:5] ik ie BiERL ENER Bt dELNMe a3t

Executive Directors HEE

Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEs - 1,222,000 190,000 24,054 - - 1,436,054

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) ERERE(THER) - 1,144,000 180,000 51,016 18,000 - 1,393,016

Mr. Yip Wai Man L1y i3 - 556,400 70,000 2,000 18,000 - 646,400

Independent non-executive Directors BukufEs

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo ARERL 126,000 - - - - - 126,000

Mr. Law Pui Cheung Biiags 126,000 - - - - - 126,000

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan REWRE 126,000 - - - - - 126,000
VOO0 202400 MO0 TIO 36000 - g
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27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 27 EZEFARAZ (FBD KA (F622
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE EZ)FE383ME R AT (HEEZFFER)
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND HH (5£622GE) TR ENIHE) (&)
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) EEHE HERFZEEEHH)
compensation) (Continued) (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2021: BE-_Z-_—F=-A=+t—HLHFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HK$ ET FREZ(FRRAAAANBLDLE) RENEARBE AELNEHE
Other emoluments
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in connection
with the management
Employer's of the affairs
Allowances  contribution to of the Company
Discretionary  and benefits  a retirement or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses inkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
HESHAR
EHARLT
B JENBAT
BHE e
2R R fEti HRBER
i B g Histea Mg B JRRHHE @i
Executive Directors i £
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEuis = 1,183,000 220,000 10,509 13,500 - 1427009
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) — EB% %% (745) - 1,105,000 210,000 30,123 18,000 - 1,363,123
Mr. Yip Wai Man E )Gk - 539,500 130,000 - 18,000 - 687,500
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTEZ
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FEELT 122,000 - - - - - 122,000
Mr. Law Pui Cheung Bhass 122,000 - - - - = 122,000
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan RENE 122,000 - - - - = 122,000
366,000 2,827,500 560,000 40,632 49,500 - 3,843,632
During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the directors REZE-_E-_—F=A=+—HIE
of the Company waived their emoluments nor agreed to waive B AR EEHNERESRENE
their emoluments for the year (2021: nil). HEEWE (ZSE-—F: &) -
KWONG MAN KEE GROUPLIMITED BB X s E M A R 2 & |
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27 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
Save as disclosed in Note 27(a), the directors did not receive
any other retirement benefits or termination benefits during
the year (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available the
directors’ services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by
and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, bodies
corporate controlled by and controlled entities with such
directors (2021: nil).

Director’s material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 29(a), no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).
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28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 28 #“ZAB4hRE2&RM:E

=l

(a) Cash flows from operating activities (a) REFEMEBRLKE
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+-HLFE
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E-C T —
Cash flows from operating activities K& EEFEHEERE
Profit before income tax B P 45 25¢ A1 4 A 9,162,289 18,197,196
Adjustments for: ST R IEEL FHE
— Interest income —F B M A (105) (14,606)
— Interest expense —MERX 296,442 324,904
- Depreciation of property, ¥ BERREINE
plant and equipment 1,113,210 1,721,093
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ — [ F#EBEERE 1,490,319 1,730,038
— Impairment loss on trade and -ERESEFRERRES
retention receivables and UNEEHEERERE
contract assets 2,404,493 2,078,021
- Changes in cash surrender value -RNRBEHZIRER
of investment in an insurance RERREBEEL
contract 122,240 =
- Write-off of inventories —-MEEE 240,764 642,788
- Provision for inventory obsolescence —[& & 717 & & 39,088 232,995
- Share of loss of an associate —FRAEREARZ
accounted for using equity method JEIGHE = N A EE 187,994 -
- Gain from disposal of property, - HENE  BERH
plant and equipment and ARERAEEE 2=
right-of-use assets (10,000) (3,237)
Operating profit before working LEESEBRLL R
capital changes 15,046,734 24,909,192
Changes in working capital: EEEE
- (Increase)/decrease in inventories —FE0EEM,wmb (15,386,779) 2,403,562
— Increase in trade and retention ~-EBREFEFRER
receivables RE&E M (5,272,329) (8,544,947)
- Increase in prepayments and other  — Y& {< TR I8 K H i JiE g 4 18 3 A0
receivables (770,512) (494,994)
- (Increase)/decrease in contract —BHEECEM R
assets (2,756,408) 6,259,481
- Increase/(decrease) in contract —&HaELEMm/ i)
liabilities 1,316,698 (359,129)
— Increase/(decrease) in trade -ENESEREZEN CRd)
payables 10,883,719 (4,644,158)
- Increase in accruals and — BB N H Ath B A FRIELE N
other payables 531,226 234,246
Net cash generated from operations REmBERS 3,592,349 19,763,253

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 28

(Continued)
(b)

Net cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the
movements in net cash for each of the years presented.

FeRERBRME (K)

(b) FREHEK

AENELFI AT 2 56 2 09 F R & AFR

SEHHI -

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2022 2021
HK$ BT g —F——
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREZEYD 23,869,941 34,551,775
Bank borrowings RITEE (15,090,311) (9,410,482)
Lease liabilities HEABE (845,435) (570,045)
Net cash EIR 4 7,934,195 24,571,248
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE REEHELEE
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents borrowings liabilities Total
BeR
HK$ BT ReEEY RITEE HEER @it
Net cash as at 31 March 2020 W-E-FEF=f=+—H
LERE 19,612,765 (10,130,503) (673,254) 8,809,008
Cash flows BeRe 14,957,176 720,021 658,032 16,335,229
Acquisition - leases WE-RE - - (554,823) (554,823)
Foreign exchange adjustments ANE FE (18,166) - - (18,166)
Net cash as at 31 March 2021 N-E--F=Zf=+—H
2ERSE 34,551,775 (9,410,482) (570,045) 24,571,248
Cash flows ReneE (10,659,117) (5,679,829) 476,026 (15,862,920)
Acquisition - leases WE-HE - - (751,416) (751,416)
Foreign exchange adjustments ANEE & (22,717) - - (22,717)
Net cash as at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_#=A=+-H
LERE 23,869,941 (15,090,311) (845,435) 7,934,195

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following
individuals were related parties that had transactions or balances

with the Group.

Related parties

)b

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”)

= & B B | x KM

29 BMAIRS
ARAEERRUTALTREREERR
CES vk

Relationship with the Group
HEAE BB HF

Controlling shareholder and executive director of the Group

BEXEE(TBEE]) AEEZERBRREHTES

Ms. Li Chuen Chun (“Mrs. Kwong”) Spouse of Mr. Kwong

ZrpR+ ((BKX]) BB 5 A K B 45

Ms. Kwong Wing Yan (“Ms. Kwong”) Daughter of Mr. Kwong

Bamz+ (TBx+]) BEENZT

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group (a) REE-_ZE-_—FK-_ZT-—%=A
had the following significant transactions with its related “t+—HLEFE AEEHEEPE
parties: BUTHERR S

Year ended 31 March
BEZA=T-HLFE
2022 2021
HK$ BT —E=-C —E-—F
Rental paid in relation to rental I =Sy i
contract entered into with MEGHZENHES

Mr. Kwong (Note b) RS (Hitb) 240,000 240,000
Mrs. Kwong and Ms. Kwong BARBRZL 78,400 44,400

(b) As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised lease liabilities (b) RZE-—F=F=+—H KX£H

to related party of approximately HK$258,000 (2021:
HK$487,000) over the relevant property lease.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

SEEYEHERRAHER T NEE
B & 42580008 L (Z T - —&F:
487,000/ 7C) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE

& B B ® x KM ==

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

30 AABZHBRRARKRMEEZE

ARE 2B BMRRE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

Note 2022 2021
HK$ BT i 5 =2== —T_—F
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RB AR ZKE (a) 27,008,999 27,008,999
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables TEI /I8 R H At B W k1A 437,441 357,566
Amounts due from subsidiaries e Bt /B X Rl 3R A 58,149,168 57,943,857
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 150,346 205,532

58,736,955 58,506,955

Total assets EERE 85,745,954 85,515,954
LIABILITIES &
Current liabilities poEIA=RE
Accruals and other payables FERT 2 A K H o e 5RI8 249,500 19,500
Amounts due to a subsidiary FEATFT B A R 58 4,500 4,500
Total liabilities SEEE 254,000 24,000
EQUITY Rz
Share capital IR A 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves i (b) 79,491,954 79,491,954
Total equity Emew 85,491,954 85,491,954
Total equity and liabilities BEREERE 85,745,954 85,515,954

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2022 and was signed on its

behalf.

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
Director

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

Mr. Yip Kong Lok
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

= a8 M B H x K
30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 30 AARZBBRIRREEES (B)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (a) ZEMBAFFEE
Place of Principal activities
incorporation/ Issued and fully and place
Company name establishment paid up capital of operation Interest held (%)
AR/ & IEXBR
AAER RS RHRRE EXBH Fris B E(%)
2022 2021
ZEZZF “T--F
Directly held by the Company
ANRERS
Victor Ease Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100
Hong Kong
ARERAA RERLES 10,000% 7T REEREER
Indirectly held by the Company
ARTEEREE
Kwong Man Kee Engineering Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 Provision of engineering 100 100
services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Hong Kong
BYRIRERARA ik 1007 REBRMUITAR  hastE
R#RME R EH TRRE
Charter Ease International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US§10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
2RARARAA AERTES 10,000% 7T REPREER
Luxury Sense Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
RBRAES 10,000% 7T REFREER
Kwong Man Kee (Macau) Macau MOP30,000 Provision of engineering 100 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Macau
BGe (8M) IRARAF A 30,0008F 7 REMRETHEE  nattE
RBRmETENIRRS
Sino Ocean International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of materials in 100 100
Hong Kong
PEERERAA i3 10,0007 7 REBETHHES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 30 AAFZHBRRERREESE (F)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (Continued) (a) EEMB A AR (&)
Place of Principal activities
incorporation/ Issued and fully and place
Company name establishment paid up capital of operation Interest held (%)
AL/ B&fT IEXBR
LRER RS RERRE EXiE Fi R £ (%)
2022 2021
ZEZZf “FT-—F
Prolific Harvest International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100
Hong Kong
EHERERAR EBRAER 10,000% 7T REBRERR
Kwong Man Kee Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100
Company Limited Hong Kong
BXRREERAA &k 10,0007 7 RERREER
Kwong Man Kee Specialist Hong Kong HK$10,000 Provision of engineering 100 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,

screeding, anti-skid

surfacing and specialised

texture painting in Hong Kong
BRiE$IRERAA i 10,000/ 7T RERRMMITESR

WaltE BERHER

EROERRSIRRE

KMK (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Provision of engineering 85 85
services in waterproofing
works in Hong Kong

B (EH) ERAA &R 100,000 7T RERREIHKIRTEN
IER%
Huge Talent International Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding 100 -
Limited in Hong Kong
BRERRAERAA i 10,000/ RERREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company

= PaN
=)

A

30 ADAZHBRARKREEZED (B)

(b) AATZEELD

Share Capital
premium reserve Total
(Note)
HK$ BT MR A0 R B BEARGRE #at
(i)
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 R-TE-TFMH—H -
and 2022 TEC—FER-FE-—
=A=+—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 79,491,954
Note:  Capital reserve of the Company represented the difference MaF: RNRARZERREBEBRERAEKE 2

between the net asset value of Victor Ease acquired over the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in

exchange thereof.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B B IE &

IRz EEFEEARAERR
BMBETZRAREZRNERE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

i F M B #

Revenue

Profit before taxation

Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Cash flows
Net cash generated from
operating activities

At year end
Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

Cash and bank balances

Per share data
Earnings per share
- basic (HK cents)

=

W g

BR B A1

ARAIEDFHAA
FE 16348 7

RERE
RELYMBERE
REL

BE®RE

RERE

=+
Wist
Bk
K
BN
cRt

Re MRTTHER

SHRHUE
SREF

—EAR(E)

| ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %4

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—F-=F ZP2--F ZBDRF ZE-NF ZENR
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT BT
110,416,026 118,873,665 95,024,421 117,922,836 77,094,366
9,162,289 18,197,196 7,618,310 11,500,142 7,661,375
7,463,648 15,567,820 6,212,831 9,979,511 6,646,653
148,112 17,566,361 2,277,982 16,902,055 1,796,322
149,801,514 129,921,621 119,177,048 117,817,729 122,273,410
47,985,078 29,519,379 34,183,549 34,756,249 39,523,410
101,816,436 100,402,242 84,993,499 83,061,480 82,750,000
23,869,941 34,551,775 19,612,765 23,627,331 17,977,073
1.24 259 1.04 1.66 1.11




